
 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING  

MUNICIPAL COMPLEX, EILEEN DONDERO FOLEY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, PORTSMOUTH, NH  
DATE:  MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 23, 2024               TIME: 6:00PM 
   

Members of the public also have the option to join the meeting over Zoom, a unique meeting 
ID and password will be provided once you register. To register, click on the link below or 
copy and paste this into your web browser 
https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_KSlylK1gRY-MJ15SlKGy9Q  
 

AGENDA 
 

I.  6:00PM – WORK SESSION – PARKING UTILIZATION STUDY UPDATE  
II. PUBLIC DIALOGUE SESSION [when applicable – every other regularly scheduled 

meeting] – N/A 
III. CALL TO ORDER [7:00 p.m. or thereafter] 
IV. ROLL CALL    
V. INVOCATION 
VI. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
 

VII. ACCEPTANCE OF MINUTES – AUGUST 5, 2024 
 

VIII. RECOGNITIONS AND VOLUNTEER COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

A. *Recognition of outgoing Director of Water Resources/Deputy Director of Public Works 
Brian Goetz 

 

IX. PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION (This session shall not exceed 45 minutes) – (participation 
may be in person or via Zoom) 

 

X. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND VOTE ON ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS 
 

First Reading of Ordinance: 
 

A. First Reading of Ordinance Amending Chapter 10, Article 6 - Overlay Districts, Section 

10.680 – Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District, by Establishing a New Incentive 

Overlay District Allowing for Higher Density Housing (Sample motion – move to pass 

first reading and schedule a public hearing and second reading to be held at the 

October 21, 2024 City Council meeting) 
 

Public Hearing/Second Reading of Ordinance: 
 

B. PUBLIC HEARING AND SECOND READING of Ordinance Amending Chapter 1, Article 

IV, Section 1.412 – Public Art Review Committee, existing text to be deleted in its entirety 

and replaced with a brief reference to a new section in Chapter 1, Article XVII relating to 

public art; and Chapter 1, Article XVII – Funding of Public Art, Sections 1.1700-1.1707 

existing text to be deleted in its entirety and replaced with a new Article XVII, retitled 

Funding, Review and Acquisition of Public Art, inclusive of new Sections 1.1700-1.1709 

  

https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/register/WN_KSlylK1gRY-MJ15SlKGy9Q


City Council Agenda 
September 23, 2024 

  Page 2 
 

 

• PRESENTATION  

• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS 

• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS 

• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS 

 

(Sample motion – move to pass second reading and schedule a third and final 

reading at the October 7, 2024 City Council meeting) 

 

XI. CITY MANAGER’S ITEMS WHICH REQUIRE ACTION 
 

A. CITY MANAGER CONARD 
 

City Manager’s Items Which Require Action: 
 
1. *Request to Schedule Joint Work Session on the FY2026-FY2031 Capital Improvement 

Plan 
 
2. Consideration of Referral of Draft Right-to-Know Policy to Fee Schedule Study Committee 
 
3. Sale of Surplus Police Vehicles 
 
4. Acceptance of Several Easements for Property Located at 53 Green Street 

 
XII. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Request from Roger Leahy, Overland Sheepskin Company, to install two Projecting Signs 
at 1 Market Square (Anticipated action – move to approve the aforementioned 
Projecting Signs License as recommended by the Planning & Sustainability 
Director, and further, authorize the City Manager to execute the License Agreement 
for this request) 
 

Planning Director’s Stipulations: 

• The license shall be approved by the Legal Department as to content and form; 

• Any removal or relocation of the signs, for any reason, shall be done at no cost 

to the City; and 

• Any disturbance of a sidewalk, street or other public infrastructure resulting 

from the installation, relocation or removal of the signs, for any reason, shall be 

restored at no cost to the City and shall be subject to review and acceptance by 

the Department of Public Works  

B. Letter from Chris Carragher, Seacoast Paddleboard Club (SPC), requesting permission 

to hold the 6th Annual Paddleboard event on Sunday, October 27, 2024, from 9:00 a.m. 

to 11:30 a.m. at the Robert P. Sullivan Boat Launch at Peirce Island (Anticipated action 

– move to refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act)  



City Council Agenda 
September 23, 2024 

  Page 3 
 

 

C. Letter from Barbara Massar, Pro Portsmouth, Inc., requesting permission to hold the 

following events: 

• First Night Portsmouth 2025 – Tuesday, December 31, 2024 

• Children’s Day – Sunday, May 4, 2025; Noon – 4:00 p.m. 

• 48th Annual Market Square Day Festival & 10K Road Race – Saturday, June 14, 

2025; 9:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. 

• 22nd Annual Summer in the Street – Saturday evenings – July 5, 12, 19, 26, August 

2, 2025; 5:30 p.m. – 8:30 p.m. 

 

In addition, Pro Portsmouth, Inc. requests the City joins as a sponsor in support of the 

fireworks’ display in the amount of $3,000.00 (Anticipated action – move to refer the 

City Manager with Authority to Act) 

 

D. Letter from Laurie Mantegari, Scarecrows of the Port, requesting permission to install 

Scarecrows of the Port in the streets of Portsmouth beginning Tuesday, October 8th 

through Saturday, November 2nd (Anticipated action – move to accept temporary art 

display and refer to the City Manager with Authority to Act) 

 

XIII. PRESENTATIONS AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS 

 

A. *Presentation on the Community Policing Facility – City Staff 

 

B. Email Correspondence (Sample motion – move to accept and place on file) 

 
C. Letter from Christine Groleau, North Church of Portsmouth, requesting a reduction or 

waiver of fees associated with the upcoming construction project at 2 Congress Street 

 
D. PPMtv Proposal for Additional Funding and Change in Policy 

 
 

XIV. MAYOR McEACHERN 
 

1. *Appointment of Sean Clancy as a Regular member and Jillian Harris as an Alternate 

member to the COAST Board of Directors 

2. Appointments to be Considered: 

• Reappointment of Mark Syracusa to the Parking & Traffic Safety Committee 

• Reappointment of Mary Lou McElwain to the Parking & Traffic Safety Committee 

• Reappointment of Erica Wygonik to the Parking & Traffic Safety Committee 

• Reappointment of Robert Marchewka to the Economic Development Commission 

• Appointment of Brian Gibb to the Conservation Commission from an Alternate to a 

Regular member 

  



City Council Agenda 
September 23, 2024 

  Page 4 
 

 

3. Resignation  

• Adam Fitzpatrick from the Conservation Commission (Sample motion – move to 

accept the resignation with regret and to send a letter of thanks for his service 

to the City) 

 

XV. CITY COUNCIL MEMBERS 

 

A. ASSISTANT MAYOR KELLEY & COUNCILOR TABOR 
 
1. *Housing Blue Ribbon Committee Update 
 
B. ASSISTANT MAYOR KELLEY 

 
1. Update from the Legislative Subcommittee and its recommendation to approve the New 

Hampshire Municipal Association’s 2025-2026 Proposed Legislative Principles and 
Proposed Legislative Policies to be voted on by NHMA members at its policy conference 
on September 27, 2024 (Sample motion – move to approve NHMA’s 2025-2026 
Proposed Legislative Principles and Legislative Policies) 

 
C. COUNCILOR COOK & COUNCILOR DENTON 
 
1. *Climate Action Plan related Capital Improvement Plan Additions (Sample motion – 

move to allow Climate Action Plan related Capital Improvement Plan additions by 
the Sustainability Committee to be submitted past the current deadline) 

 
D. COUNCILOR COOK 
 
1. *Public Art Review Committee Ordinance Amendment (Sample motion – move to 

amend the current language in the Public Art Review Committee Ordinance as 
follows: In Section 1.1702 Public Art Commitment, in the first sentence, replace the 
phrase “all new municipal buildings or for the renovation of existing municipal 
buildings” with “capital construction appropriations for any public construction 
project, excluding roadways and associated utilities”)  

 
E. COUNCILOR BAGLEY 
 
1. Parking & Traffic Safety Committee Action Sheet and Minutes of the September 5, 2024 

meeting (Sample motion – move to approve and accept the action sheet and 
minutes of the September 5, 2024 Parking & Traffic Safety Committee meeting) 

2. Request for First Reading of amendment to Chapter 7, Vehicles, Traffic and Parking, 
Article X, Towing, Section 7.1004, Towing or Immobilization of Motor Vehicles for Non-
Payment of Parking Fines (Sample motion – move to request first reading of the 
ordinance to be held at the October 7, 2024 City Council meeting) 

3. Renewal of Annual Valet Parking License Agreement for Parade Residence Hotel LLC 
(Sample motion – move to approve the renewal of the Valet Parking License 
Agreement for Parade Residence Hotel, LLC) 



City Council Agenda 
September 23, 2024 

  Page 5 
 

 

4. Renewal of Annual Valet Parking License Agreement for Portwalk HI LLC (Sample 
motion – move to approve the renewal of the Valet Parking License Agreement for 
Portwalk HI LLC) 

 
E. COUNCILOR MOREAU 
 
1. *Update from the Planning Board meeting on September 19, 2024 regarding GNOD 
 

XVI. APPROVAL OF GRANTS/DONATIONS 
 

A.  Acceptance of Historic Cemetery Donation - $2,500.00 (Sample motion – move to 

accept the donation from EightKPH LLC in the amount of $2,500.00 to support 

restoration work at the North Cemetery) 

 

B. Acceptance of Fire Department Donation - $100.00 (Sample motion – move to accept 

the donation from Allen Hawthorne in the amount of $100.00 to be used at the 

departments discretion) 

 
C. *Acceptance of Police Department Grant from the NH Department of Safety - $26,300.00 

(Sample motion – move to approve and accept the grant for the Police Department 

as presented) 

 
D. Acceptance of Police Department Donation - $3,200.00 (Sample motion – move to 

approve and accept the donation for the Police Department as presented) 

XVII. CITY MANAGER’S INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

 

1. *Pease Development Authority Board Meeting Update 
2. *Revaluation Informal Hearings Update 
3. Report Back on PPMtv Request for Additional Funding and Policy Change 
4. *Update on Accessory Dwelling Unit Handbook 

 
XVIII. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS INCLUDING BUSINESS REMAINING UNFINISHED AT 

PREVIOUS MEETING 

 

XIX. ADJOURNMENT [at 10:30 p.m. or earlier] 

 
 
*Indicates verbal report 
 
 
 

KELLI L. BARNABY, MMC/CNHMC 
CITY CLERK 

  



CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

MUNICIPAL COMPLEX        PORTSMOUTH, NH 
DATE:  MONDAY, AUGUST 5, 2024      TIME: 7:00PM  
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to close the Non-Public Session and seal the minutes. Seconded 
by Councilor Lombardi and voted. 
 
III. CALL TO ORDER  
 

Mayor McEachern called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 
 
IV. ROLL CALL    
 

PRESENT: Mayor McEachern, Assistant Mayor Kelley, Councilors Tabor, Cook, Denton, 
Blalock, Bagley, Moreau and Lombardi 

 
V. INVOCATION 
 

Mayor McEachern asked for a moment of silent prayer. 
 
VI. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE   
 

Mayor McEachern led in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
IX. PUBLIC COMMENT SESSION 
 

Lucille Therrien spoke to the proposed location of the new police station and how the residents 
of Connors Cottage will lose their view and be blocked in by the proposed size of the building. 
 
Erik Anderson said he would not like to see the building demolished, there needs to be 
reasonable consideration to the neighborhood and their opinions. 
 
Patricia Robinson spoke to living at Connors Cottage and wants to not lose their view. She said 
it is important to put thought into the aesthetics with such a development here at the Municipal 
Complex. 
 
Robin Husslage spoke on 361 Hanover development. She said the Islington Street residents 
reached out to the Planning Director Walker at the time regarding the zoning of 361 Hanover 
Street. She spoke about having the lot rezoned and discussed that matter with the Planning 
Director Walker at the Planning Board meeting in 2020. She indicated that the Planning 
Department agreed that the area should be rezoned, and Planner Cracknell took over and the 
proposal for zoning is high density. She urged that the area be rezoned. 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 2 
 
Nicole LaPierre said she is not antidevelopment but needs assistance from the city. She feels that the 
neighborhood is not being listened to regarding 361 Hanover Street. At the July Planning Board meeting 
the developer said that this was already happening. 
 
Marcy Vaughn spoke opposed to the 361 Hanover Street development. She expressed concern 
regarding the license agreement and the impact it has had on parking at the lot. She asked why the 
Planning Board did not hold a work session on this matter. She asked why the amendment was 
removed and who made the decision. She said that the city needs to be more transparent on this matter.  
 
Bill Downey spoke regarding the Times building and asked about whether inspections have taken place 
and where the reports would be located. He expressed the importance of preserving both sides of the 
building.  
 
Elizabeth Bratter, Dover, NH said a public hearing and a notice to abutters should take place for any 
development.  
 
Councilor Blalock moved to suspend the rules to bring forward the Community Policing Facility 
Update. Seconded by Assistant Mayor Kelley and voted. 
 
City Manager Conard requested Facilities Manager Almeida to provide an update on the Community 
Policing Facility. 
 
Facilities Manager Almeida provided a brief update on the Community Policing Facility. He reported 
that a smaller plan is currently being considered. He stated an update with a view of the plans would 
be provided at an upcoming City Council meeting in September. He stated that the previous design has 
been moved to the side and we are staying within budget. 
 
Councilor Cook asked how much space is needed per staff member. Facilities Manager Almeida said 
he would provide information at a future update and follow up with an answer. 
 
X. PUBLIC HEARINGS AND VOTE ON ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS 
 

Public Hearings/Second Reading of Ordinances 
 
A. Public Hearing/Second Reading of proposed Ordinance amending Chapter 10, Article 5A 

– Character-Based Zoning, Section 10.5A43.33 regarding Building and Story Heights of 
the Zoning Ordinance 

 
Mayor McEachern read the legal notice, declared the public hearing open and called for speakers. 
 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 3 
 
Planning Manager Stith reviewed the zoning amendments in the Character Districts to require both 
workforce housing and community space through a Conditional Use Permit (CUP) in exchange for 
certain incentives. He stated parcels over one acre in size and not located in an incentive overlay 
district, the incentive is an additional story up to 15 feet, a house or duplex building type and/or a mixed-
use building in exchange for 50% community space and workforce housing. He said to clarify, incentive 
applies to a mix of residential and non-residential uses. He stated that these are minor non-substantive 
edits. 
 
The City Council spoke in support of moving the ordinance forward. 
 
Jim Smalley said 50% open space requirement makes housing more affordable. He stated right now 
residents are being priced out because it is driving costs up. He said if there was more supply the 
housing costs would go down. 
 
Elizabeth Bratter, Dover, NH said she feels a developer would only have to pick one building to create 
affordable units. She stated a developer could pick the smaller building so they would only have to put 
in a small number of workforce housing units. She urged the City Council to review the definitions and 
make community space more clearly defined. 
 
With no further speakers, Mayor McEachern declared the public hearing closed. 
 
Councilor Moreau moved to pass second reading of the proposed zoning amendment to 
Chapter 10, Article 5A, Section 10.5A43.33 and to schedule third and final reading at the August 
19, 2024 City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Tabor. 
 
Councilor Bagley said the developer would need to conform with the definition in the zoning ordinance 
for community space. 
 
Councilor Moreau said the comments made about the “any” under Section B would mean any building 
in the development. Planner Manager Stith said that is correct. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley said this was not an “or”, we were getting open space but not any of the 
workforce housing. She stated a developer must do both to build that kind of density. She said the open 
space concept works but we were not getting the housing we wanted. 
 
Councilor Blalock said supply and demand have an impact. He said this is a small step to give some 
affordable units and below market rate without the additional floor. 
 
Motion passed. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 4 
 

B. Public Hearing/Second Reading of proposed Parking Omnibus Ordinance amending 
Chapter 7, Article III – Traffic Ordinance, Section 7.330 A. - No Parking; Article III – Traffic 
Ordinance, Section 7.341 - Driving on Sidewalk; and Article XI, Section 7.1100 E., Speed 
Limits: 25 mph – Middle Street  

• PRESENTATION  
• CITY COUNCIL QUESTIONS 
• PUBLIC HEARING SPEAKERS 
• ADDITIONAL COUNCIL QUESTIONS AND DELIBERATIONS 

 
Mayor McEachern read the legal notice, declared the public hearing open and called for speakers. 
 
Parking & Transportation City Engineer Eby provided a brief presentation on the ordinance. He said 
there are three sections on the changes and deals with no parking in the city.  
 
Councilor Lombardi spoke in support of the 25-mph speed limit for Middle Street but feels there needs 
to be added enforcement. 
 
Councilor Cook thanked Councilor Bagley for moving quickly on this ordinance. She said that the 
neighborhood was pleased to see the ordinance moving through the process of the Council to be put 
in place. 
 
With no speakers, Mayor McEachern declared the public hearing closed.  
 
Councilor Bagley moved to pass second reading and schedule third and final reading at the 
August 19, 2024 City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Lombardi. 
 
Councilor Bagley said to change a speed limit in NH below 30 mph you would need to conduct an 
engineering study. 
 
Councilor Blalock said that this ordinance deals with Middle Street and not Middle Road. 
 
Councilor Moreau moved to postpone the ordinance and make an adjustment of Middle Street 
to Middle Road. Seconded by Councilor Blalock and voted. 
 
XI. CITY MANAGER’S ITEMS WHICH REQUIRE ACTION 
 

A. CITY MANAGER CONARD 
 

1. Request to Schedule Work Session on Revaluation – Thursday, September 5, 2024 
 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 5 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to schedule a work session on the topic of Revaluation on 
Thursday, September 5, 2024 at 5:00 p.m. Seconded by Councilor Moreau. 
 
Councilor Blalock said he will be unable to attend the work session. 
 
Motion passed. 
 

2. Request to Adopt Local Emergency Operations Plan 
 
City Manager Conard said Fire Chief McQuillen took the initiative to update the Emergency Operations 
Plan for the City which had not been done since 2017. She thanked Chief McQuillen for his hard work 
on updating the plan. 
 
Councilor Cook moved to adopt the proposed Local Emergency Operations Plan as presented. 
Seconded by Councilor Denton. 
 
Councilor Bagley applauded Chief McQuillen’s efforts. 
 
Motion passed. 
 

3. Request to Appoint a Motor Vehicle Agent 
 
Councilor Tabor moved to approve the appointment of Deputy Tax Collector Edward Gioioso as 
the Municipal Registration Agent for Motor Vehicles in the City of Portsmouth and voted. 
 

4. RFQ #52-24 Municipal Property at 35 Sherburne Road Status Update – 
Recommendations for Next Steps and Policy Decision Guidance Sought 

 
City Manager Conard explained that the City issued a Request for Letters of Interest and Statements 
of Qualifications from real estate developers and other entities regarding their capacity to design and 
construct permanent, below-market rate housing on municipally owned property at 35 Sherburne Road. 
She reported that 8 development firms responded to this Request and scored using the criteria 
established in the RFQ which included, among other criteria, experience with below market rate housing 
and professional qualifications. City Manager Conard said the four highest scoring firms were invited 
to participate in interviews: 

• Avesta Housing 
• Pennrose 
• Portsmouth Housing Authority 
• Preservation of Affordable Housing 

 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 6 
 
She stated that the interviews yielded purposeful content and dialogue. She spoke to A Request for 
Proposals (RFP) to be issued to the four interviewed entities in August. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to authorize the City Manager to prepare and issue a Request for 
Proposals to the four entities interviewed which encompasses the feedback received this 
evening. Seconded by Councilor Bagley and voted. 
 

5. South Meeting House Next Steps 
 
City Manager Conard reported the city received a single proposal in response to RFP 58-24 – South 
Meeting House Reuse. She stated the proposal is from the Schleyer Foundation and includes Chinburg 
Builders, ARCove Architects, and the Portsmouth Music and Arts Center (PMAC). She said the 
Foundation proposes a significant investment in the historic structure along with an ongoing 
maintenance program. 
 
Councilor Lombardi moved to authorize the City Manager to begin the negotiation of documents 
necessary to implement the proposal and to schedule a public meeting for the Schleyer 
Foundation to share its concept with the public and gather input. Seconded by Councilor 
Moreau and voted. 
 

6. Request to Schedule a Public Hearing Regarding Supplemental Appropriation for the 
Hanover Street Garage Project 

 
City Manager Conard requested that the City Council conduct a public hearing for approval of a 
supplemental appropriation for the Hanover Garage project. She stated we are in year three of a three-
year construction project which is scheduled to be complete in August of 2025. She advised the City 
Council that an additional $1 million in funding is needed to complete the project, due to material and 
labor prices which per contract are adjusted annually, unforeseen conditions encountered during 
construction, and additional work in support of pedestrian access and traffic flow improvements 
requested. 
 
Councilor Bagley moved to schedule a public hearing and vote to authorize a supplemental 
appropriation of $1 million from the Parking Division fund balance. Seconded by Councilor Cook 
and voted. 
 

7. Request to Establish Polling Hours for State Primary & Presidential General Elections 
 
City Clerk Barnaby outlined her request for the polling hours for the State Primary and the Presidential 
General Elections. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 7 
 
Councilor Blalock moved to approve the polling hours as presented: September 10th State 
Primary Election be established from 8:00 a.m. – 7:00 p.m.; and polling hours be expanded for 
the Presidential General Election on November 5th from 8:00 a.m. – 8:00 p.m. Seconded by 
Assistant Mayor Kelley and voted. 
 
Councilors Denton and Blalock spoke in support of expanding the polling hours. 
 
Councilor Blalock moved to suspend the rules to take up the Traffic Ordinance that was 
previously postponed because the ordinance was correctly written for Middle Street. Seconded 
by Councilor Bagley and voted. 
 
Councilor Bagley moved to pass second reading and schedule third and final reading at the 
August 19, 2024 City Council meeting. Seconded by Councilor Lombardi and voted. 
 
Councilor Bagley moved to suspend the rules and bring forward third and final reading of the 
ordinance. Seconded by Councilor Cook and voted. 
 
Councilor Bagley moved to pass third and final reading of the ordinance. Seconded by 
Councilor Lombardi and voted. 
 
XII. CONSENT AGENDA 
 

A. Request from Adam, Dean, Joe Leddy, & Jamieson Duston, 48 Maplewood LLC, to install 
a Projecting Sign at 48 Maplewood Avenue (Anticipated action – move to approve the 
aforementioned Projecting Sign License as recommended by the Planning & 
Sustainability Director, and further, authorize the City Manager to execute the 
License Agreement for this request) 

 
Planning Director’s Stipulations: 
• The license shall be approved by the Legal Department as to content and form; 
• Any removal or relocation of projecting sign, for any reason, shall be done at 

no cost to the City; and 
• Any disturbance of a sidewalk, street or other public infrastructure resulting 

from the installation, relocation or removal of the projecting sign, for any reason 
shall be restored at no cost to the City and shall be subject to review and 
acceptance by the Department of Public Works 

 
Councilor Denton moved to approve the aforementioned Projecting Sign License as 
recommended by the Planning & Sustainability Director, and further, authorize the City Manager 
to execute the License Agreement for this request. Seconded by Councilor Tabor and voted. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 8 
 

Planning Director’s Stipulations: 

• The license shall be approved by the Legal Department as to content and form; 
• Any removal or relocation of projecting sign, for any reason, shall be done at 

no cost to the City; and 
• Any disturbance of a sidewalk, street or other public infrastructure resulting 

from the installation, relocation or removal of the projecting sign, for any reason 
shall be restored at no cost to the City and shall be subject to review and 
acceptance by the Department of Public Works 

 
XIII. PRESENTATIONS AND WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Email Correspondence  
 
Councilor Lombardi moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Tabor and voted. 

 
B. Letter from James Knudsen, Knudsen Burbridge, P.C. regarding Estate of Star C. 

Johnson, Parcel at Map 232, Lot 25 on Marjorie Street, expressing their intention to 
donate the parcel to the City  

 
Councilor Moreau moved to refer to the Planning Board for a report back. Seconded by 
Councilor Cook and voted. 
 

C. Letter from Derek R. Durbin, Esq., regarding Release of Interest in Map 236, Lot 74 for 
area of former Longmeadow Lane  

 
Councilor Bagley moved to refer to the Planning Board for a recommendation. Seconded by 
Councilor Moreau and voted. 

 
D. Letter from residents of Islington Creek regarding zoning of 361 Hanover Street  

 
Councilor Blalock moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Lombardi. 
 
Councilor Moreau moved to refer to the Planning Board for review and recommendation for the 
consideration of a zoning change. Seconded by Assistant Mayor Kelley. 
 
Councilor Blalock rescinds his motion and Councilor Lombardi’s second to the motion. 
 

E. Letter from Eleanor Bird regarding the loud noises created by the fireworks  
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Denton and 
voted. 

 
F. Letter and Petitions from Lucille Therrien and residents of Connors Cottage regarding the 

proposed expansion of the Police Station  
 
Councilor Tabor moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Blalock and voted. 



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 9 
 

G. Letter from Abigail Gindele requesting the city eliminate mosquito spraying  
 
Councilor Blalock moved to accept and place on file. Seconded by Councilor Moreau and voted. 
 

XIV. MAYOR McEACHERN 

1. Appointments to be Considered: 
• Appointment of Scott Chaudoin to the Recreation Board 
• Reappointment of Deborah Chag to the Trees and Public Greenery Committee 

The City Council considered the appointments listed above with action to be taken at the August 19, 
2024 meeting. 

2. Resignations: 
• Robin Albert from the Arts and Culture Commission  
• MaryLiz Geffert as an alternate to the Zoning Board of Adjustment 

 
Councilor Cook moved to accept with regret the resignations of Robin Albert and MaryLiz 
Geffert with a letter of thanks and appreciation for their service to the city. Seconded by 
Councilor Bagley and voted. 
 

3. Status of Indoor Sports Complex 
 
Mayor McEachern said he would like to receive a report back from the Recreation Board regarding this 
matter. 
 
Councilor Blalock moved to refer to the Recreation Board for a report back. Seconded by 
Councilor Denton and voted. 
 
XVI. APPROVAL OF GRANTS/DONATIONS 
 

A. Acceptance of Great Bay Resource Protection Partnership Stewardship Grant - 
$10,000.00 

  
Assistant  Mayor Kelley moved to authorize the City Manager to enter into a grant agreement to 
accept and expend funds in the amount of $10,000.00 from the Great Bay Resource Protection 
Partnership to conduct the Buffer Revival: Enhancing Freshwater Wetland Health and 
Community Awareness project. Seconded by Councilor Moreau and voted. 
  



City Council Meeting Minutes 
August 5, 2024 

Page 10 
 

B. Acceptance of NHDES Coastal Program Coastal Resilience Grant - $9,486.00  
 
Councilor Denton moved to authorize the City Manager to enter into a grant agreement to accept 
and expend funds in the amount of $9,486.00 from the NHDES Coastal Program to conduct the 
Resilience of Wetlands: Enhancing Coastal Protection and Water Quality project. Seconded by 
Councilor Cook and voted. 
 
XVIII. MISCELLANEOUS BUSINESS INCLUDING BUSINESS REMAINING UNFINISHED AT 

PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
Councilor Blalock announced that the Portsmouth Booma Post 8 is in the State Championship. 
 
Assistant Mayor Kelley wished Mayor McEachern Happy Birthday. 
 
Councilor Tabor said the Seacoast Green Energy Challenge is taking place between Dover, 
Newmarket, Durham and Exeter to see which community’s residents can do the most to fight climate 
change. 
 
XIX. ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 9:10 p.m., Assistant Mayor Kelley moved to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Councilor 
Moreau and voted. 
 

 
KELLI L. BARNABY, MMC/CNHMC 
CITY CLERK 



SECTION 10.680 – GATEWAY NEIGHBORHOOD  
OVERLAY DISTRICT 

 
10.681 Purpose 
 
The Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District is hereby created for the purpose of creating 
additional housing opportunities in certain neighborhoods, and is referred to herein as the 
GNOD. This overlay shall allow for higher density housing in order to create neighborhoods 
where residents can live and work. A proposed development electing to use the provisions of the 
GNOD is referred to below as a GNOD development. 
 
10.682 Applicability 
 
10.613.70 
 
The provisions of the GNOD shall apply to all land identified on the Zoning Map as the 
Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District (GNOD).  
 
10.682.20 
 
The requirements and provisions of the GNOD shall apply to any  development containing 
residential uses, and/or any development electing any of the incentives of within the GNOD.  If 
the GNOD overlay options are not a part of a proposed development, then the underlying 
provisions of the zoning district shall apply. 
 
10.683 Standards 
 
10.683.10 
 
All residential or mixed-use GNOD developments that include a residential use shall comply 
with the provisions of Article 5B of this Ordinance, with the following exceptions: 
 

(1) No more than 24 dwelling units per building shall be allowed without providing 
Incentive Bonus Option(s) as provided herein.  

(2) Maximum building height for any apartment building or mixed use building 
containing residential uses shall not exceed 4 stories or 50 feet without providing 
Incentive Bonus Option(s) as provided herein. 

(3) Maximum building length shall not exceed 400 linear feet without an approved 
conditional use permit.  

(4) Front, side, and rear building setback from lot lines shall be a minimum of 10 feet. 
(5) Maximum building coverage shall not exceed 75%. 
(6) Minimum open space coverage shall be 10%. 
(7) Except for the above setback requirements, the requirements of Sections 10.5B22.20, .30 

and .40, 10.5B33, and 10.5B71 shall not apply to land within the GNOD.  



(8) A development within the GNOD may include multiple lots owned or controlled by the 
same person or entity and assembled for a GNOD development.  A GNOD development 
may contain more than one principal building or building type on the same lot. 

 
10.683.20 Relationship to Other Provisions of this Zoning Ordinance 
 
The provisions of the GNOD shall take precedence over all other provisions of the Zoning 
Ordinance that directly conflict with the provisions of the GNOD; otherwise, all other provisions 
shall apply..  
 
10.684 Allowed Uses 
 
In addition to the uses permitted in the underlying district, the following uses shall be permitted 
within the GNOD:  
 

1. Multifamily Dwelling  
2. Assisted Living Facility 
3. Retail Sales conducted within a building 
4. Restaurant, place of public assembly or function room 
5. Personal Services 
6. Consumer services such as copy shop, bicycle repair, and pet grooming. 
7. Health club, yoga studio, martial arts school or similar use. 

 
10.685 Parking 
 
In the GNOD, the shared parking provisions of Section 10.1112.62 shall apply, and shared 
parking shall be permitted on separate lots, whether in common ownership or separate ownership 
without the requirement of a conditional use permit. The provisions of Section 10.1113 
(Location of Vehicular Use Facilities) shall not apply to a GNOD development.  
 
10.686 Optional Density Bonus Incentives 
 
Buildings in the GNOD containing residential dwelling units are permitted to be up to four 
stories and to contain up to 24 units per building as a matter of right.  In order to encourage 
multifamily housing within the GNOD, additional opportunities are provided through the 
optional incentives below that permit increased building heights and increased numbers of 
dwelling units per building.   
 
The following incentives apply to residential developments and mixed use developments that 
include residential uses in the GNOD, with allowable bonuses as indicated in Table 1.  
 



 
 
10.686.10 Public Realm Improvements Incentive Option 
 
In order to qualify for a public realm improvements incentive bonus in the GNOD, as described 
here and in Section 10.5B73.20, the proposed public realm improvements shall be reviewed by 
the Planning Board as a part of site plan approval. The Planning Board shall then make written 
comments regarding the proposed public realm improvements to the Director of Planning and 
Sustainability. To the extent that the Planning Board’s comments are not followed or 
incorporated into the Director of Planning and Sustainability’s decision, the Director shall set 
forth findings relative to the Planning Board’s comments. 
 
All public realm improvements shall be subject to administrative approval by the Director of 
Planning and Sustainability. The Director of Planning and Sustainability shall review all 
proposed public realm improvements for compliance with Section 10.5B73.20, ensure that 
proposed public realm improvements are constructed to City standards, and are in the public 
interest. Public realm improvements under this section shall be permitted on a different lot than 
the development, and the remaining requirements of Section 10.5B73.20 (4) shall not apply to 
public realm improvements within the GNOD.  
 
 
10.686.20 Workforce Housing or Payment in Lieu Incentive Option 
 
The Planning Board may grant a conditional use permit for this optional bonus in accordance 
with Sections 10.240, et. seq. To qualify for this bonus, a development shall include either or a 
combination of the following: 
 

(1) Workforce Housing may be provided in accordance with Section 10.5B73.10.  
 

(2) A  payment to the City in lieu of providing workforce housing in an amount based on the 
particular makeup of the development  and in accordance with the fees established 
annually by the Fee Committee and the City Council in the fee schedule.   

 
10.686.30 Land Transfer Incentive Option 
 
In order to facilitate future development of below-market rate housing, there may be appropriate 
circumstances where applicants may convey real property to the City in lieu of or in conjunction 

Incentive Option Building Height 
Stories/Feet Dwelling Units/Building Approval Requirements

10.686.10 Public 
Realm Improvements 5/68 80 Director of Planning and Sustainability

10.686.20 Workforce 
Housing 6/80 120 Conditional Use Permit by the Planning Board

10.686.20 Payment in 
Lieu 6/80 120 Conditional Use Permit by the Planning Board

10.686.30 Land 
Transfer 6/80 120 City Council Approval

And For Additional Height and Density, One of the Following :

For All GNOD Developments over 4 Stories, 50 Feet and 24 Units Per Building:

10.686.10 Table 1: Optional Density Bonus Incentives
Maximums (If Requirements Are Met)



with meeting the other requirements for workforce housing of the GNOD. However, recognizing 
the unique nature of land, not all property may be suitable or desirable for this purpose. 
Therefore, any real property offered to the City pursuant to this section shall be subject to 
acceptance by the City Council, and in accordance with the following requirements.   
 

(1) In lieu of constructing workforce housing units within a GNOD Development, an 
applicant may offer real property to the City. Any real property offered to the City shall 
be suitable for developing workforce housing of a size set forth in section 10.686.40 and 
shall not require a conditional use permit from the Planning Board. Instead, the 
conveyance shall be subject to approval and acceptance by the City Council. In 
exchange for transferring land to the City, the developer shall be permitted to construct 
buildings up to six stories and 80 feet in height, and to construct up to 120 units per 
building. 

 
(2) Any applicant must, at their own expense, provide a certificate of title and Phase one 

environmental report for any property offered to the City Council. All closing costs shall 
be borne by the applicant. The City Council may request any additional information 
regarding the offered real property or the proposed transfer, the preparation of which 
shall be by the applicant.  

 
(3) Any applicant must, at their own expense, demonstrate the suitability of the proposed 

land to be conveyed to the City for workforce housing purposes.  This requirement shall 
be met by submitting a constraints site plan to the Director of Planning and 
Sustainability depicting: boundaries, existing and proposed; the setbacks; wetlands and 
wetlands buffers, if any; rights of way; utility easements; and, other identifiable 
development constraints.  The Director of Planning and Sustainability shall provide 
comments on the proposed site’s suitability based on the constraints site plan to the City 
Council prior to acceptance. 

 
(4) Prior to acceptance by the City Council, the Planning Board shall provide written 

comments to the City Council regarding the offered real property and its compliance 
with this Article. Any comments offered by the Planning Board shall be advisory in 
nature only, but the City Council shall, to the extent that the Planning Board’s comments 
are not followed or incorporated into the City Council’s decision, set forth findings 
relative to the Planning Board’s comments.  

 
(5) The City Council shall not accept any real property offered if acceptance would subject 

the municipality to potential liability as an owner of property under the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, 42 U.S.C. section 
9601 et seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. section 6901 et 
seq., RSA 147-A and 147-B, and any other federal or state environmental statute which 
imposes strict liability on owners for environmental impairment of the real estate 
involved. 

 
(6) In addition to the circumstances described in paragraph 2, the City Council may refuse 

to accept any offered real property whenever in its judgment acceptance and ownership 



of the real estate would subject the municipality to undesirable obligations or liability 
risks, including obligations under real estate covenants or obligations to tenants, or for 
any other reason would be contrary to the public interest.   

 
(7) In order to qualify for this optional incentive, the amount of the proposed land transfer 

will be dependent on the size of a proposed GNOD as follows: 
 
The developer shall convey at least one contiguous acre of Developable Upland 

to the City for up to twenty acres of Developable upland in a proposed 
GNOD (the Parcel).  For a GNOD larger than twenty acres, the size of the 
Parcel shall increase in the proportion of one acre of Developable Upland 
per each additional twenty acres of Developable Upland in the proposed 
GNOD.  

 
The City Council, at its sole discretion and following a recommendation by the 

Planning Board, may accept multiple parcels of not less than one acre each, 
if the City Council determines it is in the best interest of the City.  

 
(8) Any property acquired by the City pursuant to this section shall be primarily utilized for 

below-market rate housing. The City Council shall designate the appropriate method for 
procurement, development, form of ownership, disposition and administration of 
individual parcels of land acquired pursuant to this section.  

 
(9) Any land conveyed under this section shall be conveyed to the City may be conveyed as 

a condition subsequent to final Planning Board approval(s) and execution of the site 
review agreement, but in any event shall be conveyed prior to the issuance of a building 
permit for any project.  

 
(10) If land is conveyed under this section, there shall be no further requirement to meet any 

specific percentage of workforce housing units in a GNOD as provided in Section 
10.5B73.10, unless a building is proposed over 400 linear feet in length, in which case 
the Bonus Incentive Requirements of Section 10.5B73.10 shall apply. 

 
10.686.40 Transfer of Development Rights Acquired through Land Transfer 
 

(1) Land may be conveyed in conjunction with, or separately from a proposed development 
(GNOD conveyance). In the event that a GNOD conveyance exceeds the amount 
required in order to support a proposed development, or when land is conveyed 
separately from any proposed development, the developer or its assigns will receive 
future credit for a future project or projects in accordance with the standards set forth 
below.  
 

(2) Following any acceptance of real property by the City Council and successful transfer of 
fee ownership with warranted title, if there is any excess acreage above what is necessary 
for a proposed GNOD development, the Director of Planning and Sustainability shall 
notify the Planning Board and the transferor of land of the amount of Land Credit the 



developer shall receive, which shall be memorialized in a Proposed Development 
Incentive Agreement (PDIA), as defined below. 

 
(3) Contemporaneous with any GNOD conveyance, the City and the developer shall enter 

into a PDIA, which shall specify the amount of land conveyed to the City, the amount if 
any used for a pending development, and the amount of excess land that may be credited 
toward a future project in accordance with the GNOD. Any excess land credit may only 
be used within the GNOD but may be sold or transferred without limitation for GNOD 
purposes. A sale or transfer of excess credits pursuant to this section is only valid upon 
written notice of the transfer to the Director of Planning and Sustainability.  
 

(4) The maximum term of any PDIA shall not exceed fifteen (15) years, following which the 
rights to any unused incentive shall automatically expire and become null and void.  
 

(5) Entering into a PDIA under this section shall not be deemed to supersede or waive any of 
the other provisions of the GNOD or Article 5B or other applicable provisions of this 
Ordinance, nor shall any approval be considered to represent the granting of land use 
approval or vesting for any future development.  
 

(6) Future use of the excess land credit to support a future project shall require administrative 
approval of the Director of Planning and Sustainability, who shall certify to the Planning 
Board both the amount of land credit used as a part of a development and the remaining 
land credit pursuant to the PDIA.  
 

(7) Excess land credits may be used in full or partial fulfillment of the requirements of a 
future development set forth in section 10.686.20.  

 
Developable Upland 
 Net land area of property suitable for, or used for, development, excluding any: public 
rights of way or street rights of way platted as a part of the development: wetlands; and, wetland 
buffers. 
 
10.5B41.80 
 
New number 4: 
 
In the GNOD, the minimum community space coverage shall be equal to 10% of the total site 
area of the development site.  
 
 
Effective upon passage.  





















 
 

Date: September 19, 2024 

To: Honorable Mayor McEachern and City Council Members 

From: Karen S. Conard, City Manager 

Re: City Manager’s Comments on City Council Agenda of September 23, 2024 

X .  P u b l i c  H e a r i n g  a n d  V o t e  o n  O r d i n a n c e s  a n d / o r  
R e s o l u t i o n s :  

A. First Reading of Ordinance Amending Chapter 10, Article 6 – Overlay Districts, Section 
10.680 – Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District, by Establishing a New Incentive 
Overlay District Allowing for Higher Density Housing: 

Please find attached the Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District (GNOD) Ordinance for first 
reading at this evening’s meeting. 

The City Council requested first reading of the Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District 
(GNOD) Ordinance at its August 19, 2024 meeting. Within this Ordinance, City staff propose 
the introduction of a novel overlay district to facilitate the development of higher density 
housing, overlaying certain properties currently zoned as Office Research in the vicinity of 
Commerce Way with a regulatory pathway for residential development. Through various 
bonus incentives, property owners can construct multifamily housing up to six stories and 120 
dwelling units per building. 

The area to be rezoned is shown on the attached map. City staff drafted this new overlay district 
in close consultation with representatives of many of the properties within this area, who are 
supportive of this rezoning.  

Since the August 19, 2024 City Council meeting, City Planning and Legal staff met with Rick 
Chellman, Chair of the Planning Board, to further discuss and review the GNOD Ordinance. 
The GNOD Ordinance presented for first reading is a slight redraft of the original version 
considered by the City Council at its August 19th meeting. This draft presented for first reading 
clarifies and improves the GNOD Ordinance bringing it into closer conformity with the 
remainder of the City’s existing Zoning Ordinance.  

City staff have approached representatives of the majority of the property owners in the 
Commerce Way area, who are supportive of the enclosed modifications.   

 



CM Comment 9_23_2024 
 

Page | 2  
 
 

I recommend that the City Council move to pass first reading and schedule a public hearing 
and second reading at the October 21, 2024 City Council meeting. 

B. Public Hearing and Second Reading of Ordinance Amending Chapter 1, Article IV, 
Section 1.412 – Public Art Review Committee, existing text to be deleted in its entirety 
and replaced with a brief reference to a new section in Chapter 1, Article XVII relating 
to public art; and Chapter 1, Article XVII – Funding of Public Art, Sections 1.1700-
1.1707 existing text to be deleted in its entirety and replaced with a new Article XVII, 
retitled Funding, Review and Acquisition of Public Art, inclusive of new Sections 1.1700-
1.1709: 

Attached please find a proposed ordinance amendment regarding Public Art. 

I recommend that the City Council move to pass second reading and schedule a third and final 
reading at the October 7, 2024 City Council meeting. 

X I .  C i t y  M a n a g e r ’ s  I t e m s  W h i c h  R e q u i r e  A c t i o n :  

1. Request to Schedule Joint Work Session on the FY2026 – FY2031 Capital Improvement 
Plan: 

I would like to request a joint work session with the City Council and the Planning Board on 
Tuesday, November 12, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. on the topic of the FY2026 – FY2031 Capital 
Improvement Plan (CIP). At the work session, City Staff will present the CIP and answer 
questions from the City Council and Planning Board on the proposed projects. 

I recommend that the City Council move to schedule a joint work session with the Planning 
Board on the topic of the FY2026 – FY2031 Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) on Tuesday, 
November 12, 2024 at 6:00 p.m. 

2. Consideration of Referral of Draft Right-to-Know Policy to Fee Schedule Study 
Committee: 

During the 2024 session, the New Hampshire Legislature enacted HB 1002 which amends and 
affects the Right-to-Know Law, RSA 91-A.  

HB 1002 alters the way in which municipalities may respond to a Right-to-Know request in 
the following ways: (1) it permits communication with a requestor about modifying the scope 
of a request if it would help respond to the request more efficiently or affordably, and (2) it 
immunizes municipalities from damages in a civil action if information exempt from disclosure 
is released in responding to a Right-to-Know request in good faith. In addition, HB 1002 allows 
municipalities to charge requestors a fee in certain circumstances after the governing body 
adopts a policy.  

 

 



CM Comment 9_23_2024 
 

Page | 3  
 
 

The City already charges requestors the actual cost of providing a copy, pursuant to RSA 91-
A, either in paper form or on a new USB drive, but HB 1002 allows the City the option to 
charge requestors an additional fee when we are asked to produce hundreds of pages of 
electronic records whether or not paper copies are being produced. Per HB 1002, this fee – the 
“reasonable per electronic communication charge” – may not exceed $1.00 per communication 
and may be charged whether the records are delivered in hard copy or electronically. No charge 
may be incurred for the first 250 electronic communications and indigent and media requestors 
are exempt. 

In July of 2024, subsequent to passage by the legislature and prior to the new law’s effective 
date of August 13, 2024, the New Hampshire Municipal Association (NHMA) issued a Model 
HB 1002 Policy. The goal of this policy is to encourage members of the public to work with 
City staff to access government records and foster an understanding of how local government 
functions in a more targeted and efficient manner. This saves City staff time and ultimately 
encourages an efficient use of taxpayer resources while providing logical exemptions for 
members of the media and indigent persons.  

The Legal Department recommends that the City Council refer the enclosed draft policy to the 
Fee Schedule Study Committee for a verbal report back and adoption of the policy at the 
October 7, 2024 meeting. 

I recommend that the City Council move to refer draft City Council policy, “Updates to the 
City’s Right to Know Policy” to the Fee Schedule Study Committee for a verbal report back 
and adoption of the draft policy at the October 7, 2024, City Council meeting. 

3. Sale of Surplus Police Vehicles: 

The Portsmouth Police Department has a surplus of vehicles ready for auction. 

As in the past, the City has disposed of surplus vehicles through GovDeals, an online auction 
site in which vehicles are sold to the highest bidder. The City’s experience has shown that the 
City receives more money for surplus property through the GovDeals platform, than through 
a sealed bid process. 

According to City Ordinance Section 1.505, property valued at $500 or more must receive 
approval from the City Council prior to bidding. 

I recommend that the City Council move to approve the sale of surplus Police vehicles as 
presented. 

 

 

 

 



CM Comment 9_23_2024 
 

Page | 4  
 
 

4. Acceptance of Several Easements for Property Located at 53 Green Street: 

On July 15, 2021, the Planning Board granted a Wetlands Conditional Use Permit, Subdivision, 
and Site Plan Approval to Doug Pinciaro of Stone Creek Realty, LLC for the demolition of an 
existing building, construction of a five-story mixed-use building and renovation of an existing 
parking area. As a part of that approval, the Planning Board recommended the City accept the 
following easements: a Greenway Easement adjacent to North Mill Pond; a Greenway Access 
Easement to access the new greenway from Green Street; a Wide Pedestrian Sidewalk 
Easement along Green Street; a Sewer Line Easement; and, an Access Easement for Water 
Services. Each of these easements, with the exception of the Water Access Easement, are 
shown on the drawing enclosed as Exhibit A.  

The Greenway Easement (Exhibit B), Greenway Access Easement (Exhibit C) and the Wide 
Pedestrian Sidewalk Easement (Exhibit D) are each offered to the City in exchange for density 
bonus incentives, permitting the new building to have a fifth story where four are permitted. 
The Sewer Line Easement (Exhibit E) will accommodate any maintenance, repair or 
replacement of City sewer infrastructure. The Access Easement for Water Services (Exhibit F) 
will permit City staff to enter onto the property for the limited purposes of turning valves and 
leak detection.  

The locations of the Greenway Easement, the Greenway Access Easement, the Wide 
Pedestrian Sidewalk Easement and the Sewer Line Easement are shown on the attached 
drawing.  

This approval was delayed by the Superior Court case entitled Richard D. Antal, et. al. v. City 
of Portsmouth, where City residents unsuccessfully challenged the lawfulness and 
reasonableness of the above-mentioned Planning Board approvals for this project. The 
property owners now seek to perfect the 2021 approvals.  

The Public Works and Planning & Sustainability Departments recommend accepting these 
easements. The Legal Department has reviewed and recommended the form of the attached 
easements.   

I recommend that the City Council move to authorize the City Manager to accept and record 
the following easements over 53 Green Street in substantially similar form to the easement 
deeds contained in the agenda packet: 

• a Greenway Easement;  
• a Greenway Access Easement;  
• a Wide Pedestrian Sidewalk Easement;  
• a Sewer Line Easement; and 
• an Access Easement for Water Services. 

 



CM Comment 9_23_2024 
 

Page | 5  
 
 

X I I .  C o n s e n t  A g e n d a :  

A. Projecting Signs Application for 1 Market Square: 

Permission is being sought to install two projecting signs at 1 Market Square that extends 
over the public right of way, as follows: 

Sign dimensions: 15” x 40” & 18” x 48”  
Sign area: 4.16 sq. ft. & 6 sq. ft. 

The proposed signs comply with zoning requirements. If a license is granted by the City 
Council, no other municipal approvals are needed. Therefore, I recommend approval of a 
revocable municipal license, subject to the following conditions: 

1) The license shall be approved by the Legal Department as to content and form; 
2) Any removal or relocation of the signs, for any reason, shall be done at no cost to the 

City; and 
3) Any disturbance of a sidewalk, street or other public infrastructure resulting from the 

installation, relocation or removal of the signs, for any reason, shall be restored at no 
cost to the City and shall be subject to review and acceptance by the Department of 
Public Works. 

X I I I .  P r e s e n t a t i o n s  a n d  W r i t t e n  C o m m u n i c a t i o n s :  

A. Presentation on the Community Policing Facility: 

City staff will present updates regarding a proposed Community Policing Facility at this 
evening’s meeting. 

X V I .  A p p r o v a l  o f  G r a n t s / D o n a t i o n s :  

A. Acceptance of Historic Cemetery Donation - $2,500: 

Historic Cemetery Committee Co-Chair Susan Sterry secured a donation from EightKPH LLC, 
the co-owner and developer of 163 Deer Street, for purposes of supporting the Committee’s 
efforts to improve the condition of North Cemetery. Specifically, in consultation with the 
Department of Works, these funds could be utilized by the Department of Public Works to 
remove the wooden fence that is in disrepair along a portion of the property and recondition 
the landscaping in that area. 

I recommend that the City Council move to approve and accept the donation from EightKph 
LLC in the amount of $2,500 to support restoration work at the North Cemetery. 

 

 

 



CM Comment 9_23_2024 
 

Page | 6  
 
 

B. Acceptance of Fire Department Donation - $100: 

Attached please find a donation for approval and acceptance for the Fire Department from 
Allen Hawthorne in the amount of $100. 

I recommend that the City Council move to approve and accept the donation for the Fire 
Department as presented. 

C. Acceptance of Police Department Grant from the NH Department of Safety - $26,300: 

At the September 17, 2024 Police Commission meeting, the Board of Police Commissioners 
approved and accepted an Office of Highway Safety Grant from the NH Department of Safety 
in the amount of $26,300, which funds various forms of motor vehicle enforcement initiatives 
(DUI, Speed, Distracted Driving, etc.). 

I recommend that the City Council move to approve and accept the grant for the Police 
Department as presented. 

D. Acceptance of Police Department Donation - $3,200: 

At the September 17, 2024 Police Commission meeting, the Board of Police Commissioners 
approved and accepted a donation in the amount of $3,200 for the Portsmouth Police 
Department’s Honor Guard, made by the Miles Family in memory of the late Ret. Police 
Officer Phil Miles. 

I recommend that the City Council move to approve and accept the donation for the Police 
Department as presented. 

X V I I .  C i t y  M a n a g e r ’ s  I n f o r m a t i o n a l  I t e m s :  

1. Pease Development Authority Board Meeting Update: 

I will provide a verbal update on the Pease Development Authority’s recent Board Meeting 
held on September 12, 2024. 

2. Revaluation Informal Hearings Update: 

In accordance with New Hampshire State law, the City has completed a revaluation of all real 
property for the 2024 tax year. The appraisal firm, Vision Government Solutions, was hired to 
complete this task for all properties throughout the City. Notices are being mailed out to 
residential property owners during the week of September 16th and to commercial property 
owners during the week of September 23rd. The new value indicated in the notice reflects 
property assessments as of April 1, 2024, using sales within the City over the past year. This 
new assessed value will be utilized for the December 2024 tax bill. 

 

 



CM Comment 9_23_2024 
 

Page | 7  
 
 

Should property owners have questions and wish to discuss the new value, their notice will 
include detailed information on both the informal hearing process with a representative of 
Vision Government Solutions, as well as the formal appeal process. The assessment values are 
arrived at through a data-informed process, but owners do have the opportunity to review the 
results with the appraisers. 

New tools available this year will assist property owners in researching values and increase 
transparency for the public. The Assessor’s page on the City website will host a new property 
sales and values search dashboard that offers powerful filtering and sorting. Additionally, the 
site will have an estimated tax calculator, recordings and presentation materials from the recent 
public discussions of revaluation, and a wealth of other helpful informational resources and 
links. 

3. Report Back on PPMtv Request for Additional Funding and Policy Change: 

Attached please find a report back regarding PPMtv’s request for additional funding and 
related policy change. 

4. Update on Accessory Dwelling Unit Handbook: 

The Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) handbook is in its final stages of completion. The design 
consultant’s work was recently completed in August and those architectural designs and 
renderings are being integrated into the proposed handbook. The final draft form of the ADU 
handbook will be ready by the end of September/early October. 

https://www.cityofportsmouth.com/assessors/2024-full-statistical-revaluation


CITY OF PORTSMOUTH 

CITY COUNCIL POLICY No. ___ 

UPDATES TO THE CITY’S RIGHT TO KNOW POLICY 

1. Objective and Purpose

Access to government records pursuant to New Hampshire’s Right to Know Law

(RSA 91-A) is an indispensable tool for the public to use to understand the way

local government functions. This policy will allow the City to provide access to

government records in a more targeted and efficient manner while saving City staff

time and encouraging an efficient use of taxpayer resources.

2. Definitions

a. “Individual electronic communication” includes the communication itself as

well as the responses and attachments to each communication, under a

single subject line. However, text or chat message threads regarding the

same topic shall be considered an individual electronic communication

unless a thread exceeds 50 individual messages, at which point a group of

50 messages shall be considered an individual electronic communication.

b. “Media requestors” means organizations or individuals who publish

information in accepted digital, print, or broadcast formats and to standards

generally recognized by professional news organizations that do not serve

primarily as a platform to promote the interest and/or opinions of a special

interest group, government, individual or cause.

3. Policy
A per electronic communication charge of $1 per individual electronic
communication, regardless of whether the records are delivered in hard copy or
electronically, shall be charged of any requestor subject to the following provisions:

1. No charge shall be issued for the first 250 individual electronic

communications;

2. No charge shall be issued for the following individuals or entities:

a. An individual who can demonstrate they are indigent as established by

the federal poverty line, as issued each year by the Federal Department



 

 

of Health and Human Services; 

b. Media requestors; 

c. Any individual requesting information where the disclosure of the 

information is in the public interest because it is likely to contribute 

significantly to public understanding of the operations or activities of the 

government and is not primarily in the commercial interest of the 

requestor, except media requestors. 

 

3. Multiple requests from any person or entity to the same public body within a 

30-day time period shall be considered one request. 

The requestor shall receive an itemized estimate of the cost of making the 

record available. This estimate shall accompany any written statement of the time 

reasonably necessary to determine whether the request shall be granted or 

denied and the reason for the delay, if it is estimated that making the record 

available will take longer than 5 business days, or as soon as the fee can be 

ascertained. 

 
 
This policy shall take effect upon the passage by the City Council. 
 
Adopted by the Portsmouth City Council on:  _______ , 2024.  
 
 

 

_________________________________  

Kelli L. Barnaby, MMC/CNHMC  

City Clerk 















POLICE CARS FOR AUCTION-2024

(PPD 
INTERNAL 
CAR #)

Auction 
Car # Vehicle Yr Make Model Mileage Vin Known Problems

(#27) #1 2007 Ford E-350 XLT Van 100240 1FBSS31L37DA36866 AC Inoperable, Gas tank leaks when full, top of 
windshield leaks, spider crack in wind shield in front of 
driver, traction contrtol wheel speed sensor alarm, 
rusty, battery

(#19) #2 2011 Nissan Pathfinder 96900 5N1AR1NBXBC633922 Runs rough, needs a paint job, issue with lift gate struts, 
battery

(#35) #3 2015 Chevy Traverse 131618 1GNKVFKD5FJ364681 Transmission or transfer case makes loud banking 
noise when shifting, warning lights on, battery

(#21) #4 2014 Ford Explorer 120036 1FM5K8AR9EGA70909 Won't stay running, all interior panels not attached, 
battery 

(#13) #5 2017 Ford Explorer 106476 1FM5K8AR6HGB92714 Rear breaks shot

(#2) #6 2011 Ford Crown Victoria 70260 2FABP7BV6BX159332 Leaking intake maniforld, valve that sticks, may need a 
new engine, but was running when parked



MAP 119 LOT 1-1A
TO BE CONVEYED TO
THE CITY OF PORTSMOUTH

PROPOSED GREENWAY CONNECTION COMMUNITY
SPACE EASEMENT TO BENEFIT THE CITY OF
PORTSMOUTH WITHIN TAX MAP 119 LOT 2

SEWER EASEMENT
TO BE ABANDONED

PROPOSED WIDE SIDEWALK COMMUNITY SPACE
EASEMENT TO BENEFIT THE CITY OF PORTSMOUTH
WITHIN TAX MAP 119 LOT 2

PROPOSED 20' WIDE SEWER EASEMENT
TO BENEFIT THE CITY OF PORTSMOUTH
WITHIN TAX MAP 119 LOT 2

PROPOSED NORTH MILL POND GREENWAY
COMMUNITY SPACE EASEMENT TO BENEFIT THE CITY
OF PORTSMOUTH WITHIN TAX MAP 119 LOT 2

Text
the existing building and parking 
lot will be demolished

1

3525

57

53

53

53

53

55

299

299

299

319

233

GREEN ST

VA
UG

HA
N 

ST

MA
RK

ET
 S

T

RUSSELL S
T

RU
SS

EL
L S

T

53 Green Street
Proposed Easements

Printed:  9/16/2024

Portsmouth

Rye

Newington

New Castle

New Castle

Map prepared by Portsmouth Department of Public Works

±

Inset

EXHIBIT A



1 

After recording return to: 
City of Portsmouth 
Planning Department 
1 Junkins Ave 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 

EASEMENT FOR PUBLIC ACCESS AND USE OF COMMUNITY SPACE 

THE EASEMENT HEREIN IS GRANTED this _____ day of ____________, 2024 by Stone 
Creek Realty, LLC, a New Hampshire limited liability company with a mailing address of  11 
Portwalk Place, Portsmouth, NH 03801 (“Grantor”) for consideration of One Dollar ($1.00) paid 
by the City, and other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is acknowledged by 
Grantor, unto the City of Portsmouth, a municipal corporation, with a mailing address of 1 Junkins 
Avenue, Portsmouth, New Hampshire (“City”) with quitclaim covenants, an easement for public 
access to and use of certain community space as set forth herein.  

WITNESSETH 

 WHEREAS, reference is made to a plan entitled “Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty, 
LLC (Tax Map 119, Lot 2) 53 Green Street, Portsmouth, New Hampshire” dated August 11, 2021, 
and revised through [January 22, 2024] by Doucet Survey LLC and recorded in the Rockingham 
County Registry of Deeds as Plan #[________] (the “Easement Plan”); and 

WHEREAS, Grantor is the owner of that certain parcel of land shown on the tax maps of 
the City as [Map 119, Lot 2] as is more specifically described on Exhibit A attached hereto, and 
is shown on the Easement Plan (the “Property”). 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the sum of One Dollar ($1.00), to be paid by 
the City, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged 
by the Grantor, Grantor conveys the easements as follows, located in the City of Portsmouth, 
County of Rockingham, State of New Hampshire (hereinafter referred to as the “Easement”): 

1. Community Space Easement. Grantor hereby grants to the City and declares for the
benefit of the public a permanent, perpetual, irrevocable, and non-exclusive right to use and
enjoy as community space for a greenway solely for recreational purposes on the Property in the
area identified on the Easement Plan as “Proposed North Mill Pond Greenway Space Easement
to Benefit the City of Portsmouth 15,463 Sq. Ft.” as is more particularly described in Exhibit B
attached hereto (the “Easement Area”).  The Community Space Easement Area may be improved

EXHIBIT B



 

2 
 

by (i) the Grantor with permanent fixtures, such as public fountains, benches and other such 
landscaping features, at its sole expense, and as depicted in the Easement Plan or a Site Plan 
approved by the Planning Board and (ii) the Grantee with a paved multi-use pedestrian and bicycle 
path (the “Multi-Use Path”).  The construction of any permanent fixtures not depicted in the Site 
Plan shall be subject to a modified site plan approval by the Portsmouth Planning Board.   
 
 The Easement shall be subject to the following terms and conditions:  
 
1. Terms of Public Use. The public use of the Easement shall be governed and determined 
at the sole reasonable discretion of the City, as expressed by the City Manager or the highest 
ranking administrative officer of the City, subject to the terms and conditions hereof, provided, 
however, that in no event shall the City charge members of the public a fee or any other form of 
consideration for access to the Easement Area or the use of the Easement.  The City shall provide 
reasonable notice to the Grantor of an extraordinary event to be scheduled within the Easement 
Area, but failure to do so shall not be a breach hereof.  

 
2. Rights to Private Property.  This Easement does not convey any right to the City or the 
public to access or utilize the private property of the Grantor outside the Easement Area. Grantor’s 
use of the Easements shall be subject to and regulated through the City of Portsmouth’s rules and 
ordinances governing the Portsmouth Rail Trail. 
 
3. Maintenance of the Easement Area.  Except as provided herein, maintenance of the 
landscaping within the Easement Area shall be the sole responsibility of the Grantor, its successors 
or assigns. The City shall have the right but not the obligation to maintain, repair, or replace the 
Multi-use Path, after providing reasonable notice to the Grantor of the scope and cost of such work, 
all as reasonably determined by the City and shall have the right to access the Easement Area 
for such purposes.  Such maintenance costs incurred by the City shall be at the sole expense of 
the City. The City shall, within a reasonable amount of time after substantial completion of any 
work performed by or on behalf of the City, restore the applicable portions of the Easement Area 
and the Property that are affected by such work (all such areas collectively being the “Affected 
Areas”) to as near as practicable to the condition that existed immediately prior to the 
commencement of such work.  Such restoration obligation shall include, without limitation, 
restoring the surface of the land, ground covers, plantings, sidewalks, structures, parking areas, 
roadways and driveways, and repairing any damage to the turf areas of the Affected Areas using 
loam and seed of the same type as the grass damaged. The City shall have a corresponding right 
to reasonably enter onto the surrounding property for the limited purpose of conducting the repair 
and maintenance activities described herein.  Ongoing maintenance of landscaping items, not 
including the restoration activities described above, shall be the sole responsibility of the Grantee.  
 
4. Encroachments.  The Easements are subject to all existing encroachments of utilities 
and improvements on, over and under the Easements. 

 
5. Covenants Run with the Land. The Easements granted herein shall be perpetual in 
nature, shall run with the land and shall benefit and be binding upon the Grantor, its successors 
and assigns. The Easements shall be recorded in the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds. 

 



 

3 
 

6. City Ordinance Application. Any use, public or private, of the Easement shall be subject 
to and comply with the City Ordinances of the City of Portsmouth.   
 
7. Notices. Any notice, demand, request, or other communication that either party desires or 
is required to give to the other under this Easement shall be in writing and either served personally 
or sent by United States mail, postage prepaid, certified, return receipt requested, and shall be 
mailed to the parties at the following addresses: 
 

To Grantor: 
 
[____________] 

 
 (or as listed and at the address shown on the City’s current Tax Records) 

 
To City: 

 
City Manager (or the highest ranking administrative officer) 
City of Portsmouth, New Hampshire 
1 Junkins Avenue 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 
 

8. Amendment.  The Grantor and the City may mutually agree to amend or modify the 
provisions hereof, provided that any such amendment or modification is approved by the City 
Council at a noticed public hearing, in writing and signed by both parties, and is consistent with 
the purpose and intent of the Zoning Ordinance. No amendment or modification hereof shall take 
effect unless and until it is recorded in the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds. 
 
9. Costs and Liabilities. Neither the Grantor nor the City of Portsmouth shall be liable to the 
other party or any other person or entity in connection with any entry upon the Property pursuant 
to the terms and conditions hereof, or on account of any claim, liability, damage, or expense 
suffered or incurred by or threatened against Grantor or the City or any other person or entity. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing or any other provision hereof, this instrument is intended to comply 
with the statutory recreational immunities set forth in RSA 212:34 and RSA 508:14 and nothing 
in this instrument shall be construed to limit or abrogate the application of RSA 212:34 and RSA 
508:14 to the public use of the Easement Area. 
 
10. Applicable Law.  The provisions hereof shall be construed and interpreted according to 
the substantive law of the State of New Hampshire. 
 
MEANING AND INTENDING to convey an easement over a portion of the premises conveyed 
to the within Grantor by deed of Port City Realty, Inc. dated December 17, 2018 and recorded in 
Book 5598, Page 2725 of the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds and by deed of Boston and 
Maine Corporation dated March 4, 2015 and recorded in Book 5970, Page 1701 of the 
Rockingham County Registry of Deeds. 
 
This is an exempt transfer pursuant to RSA 78-B:2(I). 



 

4 
 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor and City have executed this Easement for Public 
Access and Use of Community Space as set forth below. 
 
 

Grantor: 
 

Stone Creek Realty, LLC 
 

By:        
Name: 
Its: 
 

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE  
COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM 
 
On this ____ day of ______________, 202___, before me, the undersigned notary public, 
personally appeared __________ of ____________, a New Hampshire limited liability 
company, proved to me through satisfactory evidence of identification to be the person whose 
name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and acknowledged to me that he/she 
signed it voluntarily for its stated purpose on behalf of the limited liability company. 

 
 
 
             
      Notary Public/Justice of the Peace: 
      My Commission Expires: 

 
  



 

5 
 

 
The City: 
 
City of Portsmouth, New Hampshire 
 
 
By:        

Karen Conard, City Manager 
 
Per vote of the City Council on ___________. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE  
 
COUNTY OF ROCKINGHAM 
 

On this ______ day of _____________, 202__, before me, the undersigned notary public, 
personally appeared Karen Conard, Manager of the City of Portsmouth New Hampshire, 
proved to me through satisfactory evidence of identification, which was a valid driver's 
license, to be the person whose name is signed on the preceding or attached document, and 
acknowledged to me that he/she signed it in his capacity as stated therein and voluntarily for 
its stated purpose. 

 
       
Notary Public:  
My Commission Expires:  

 



 

 

Exhibit A 
 

The Property Legal Description 
 

[to be provided] 
 

  



 

 

Exhibit B 
 

Community Space Easement Legal Description 
 

Proposed North Mill Pond Greenway Community Space Easement 
 
Beginning at a rebar with ID cap LLS #989 marking the a common lot corner between the 
subject parcel and land of the City of Portsmouth (Tax Map 123, Lot 15) in the City of 
Portsmouth, County of Rockingham, State of New Hampshire;  
 
Thence N 38° 56' 03" E, a distance of 6.26' to a rebar with ID cap LLS #989;  
 
Thence continuing N 38° 56' 03" E, a distance of 16'+/- to the mean high water line of North 
Mill Pond;  
 
Thence along the mean high water line of North Mill Pond 21’+/- to a point; 
 
Thence S 51° 15' 45" E, a distance of 31'+/- to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 03° 27' 15", a radius of 76.15' and a 
length of 4.59' to a point;  
 
Thence N 53° 36' 20" E, a distance of 13.20' to a point; 
  
Thence along a curve turning to the left with a delta of 35° 25' 45", a radius of 84.00' and a 
length of 51.94' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 45° 34' 14", a radius of 154.00' and a 
length of 122.48' to a point;  
 
Thence N 63° 04' 37" E, a distance of 33.39' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 03° 19' 19", a radius of 126.00' and a 
length of 7.31' to a point;  
 
Thence N 23° 35' 15" W, a distance of 3'+/- to the mean high water line of North Mill Pond;  
 
Thence along the mean high water line of North Mill Pond 32’+/- to a point; 
 
Thence N 66° 52' 16" E, a distance of 46'+/- to a rebar with ID cap LLS #989;  
 
Thence S 14° 35' 01" E, a distance of 53.52' to a rebar with ID cap LLS #989; 
  
Thence S 14° 35' 01" E, a distance of 6.20' to a point;  
 



 

 

Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 52° 33' 44", a radius of 20.05' and a 
length of 18.40' to a point; 
  
Thence N 85° 32' 47" W, a distance of 34.69' to a point;  
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 14° 12' 42", a radius of 112.00' and a 
length of 27.78' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the left with a delta of 48° 22' 34", a radius of 68.00' and a 
length of 57.41' to the point of beginning.  
Thence S 20° 50' 48" W, a distance of 11.64' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 32° 03' 50", a radius of 112.00' and a 
length of 62.68' to a point;  
 
Thence S 52° 54' 38" W, a distance of 73.92' to a point;  
 
Thence N 52° 40' 24" W, a distance of 2.47' to a point; 
  
Thence S 53° 30' 33" W, a distance of 45.75' to a point at said land of the City of Portsmouth 
(Tax Map 123, Lot 15); 
 
Thence along land of said City of Portsmouth the following two courses; 
 
N 52° 57' 56" W, a distance of 15.82' to a rebar with ID cap LLS #738;  
 
Thence N 51° 03' 57" W, a distance of 34.83' to the rebar at the point of beginning.  
 
Said easement area contains 15,463 square feet and is shown as Proposed North Mill Pond 
Greenway Community Space Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth on a plan entitled 
"Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty LLC, Tax Map 119, Lot 2, 53 Green Street, Portsmouth, 
New Hampshire" dated August 11, 2021, by Doucet Survey, LLC recorded in the Rockingham 
County Registry of Deeds as Plan #[________]. 

 



1 

Return To: 
Legal Department 
City Hall 
1 Junkins Ave. 
Portsmouth, NH  03801 

GREENWAY CONNECTION EASEMENT DEED 

Stone Creek Realty, LLC, a New Hampshire limited liability company with a mailing 
address of 11 Portwalk Place, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, hereinafter, “Grantor” hereby 
conveys to the CITY OF PORTSMOUTH, a municipal corporation with a principal place of 
business at 1 Junkins Avenue, Portsmouth, Rockingham County, New Hampshire (“City” or 
“Grantee”) for consideration paid, the following easement located in the City of Portsmouth, New 
Hampshire for the construction, maintenance and operation of a greenway trail allowing public 
use of the easement area as a bicycle and pedestrian pathway under such terms and conditions as 
may be determined by the City. 

DESCRIPTION OF EASEMENT AREA 

The easement area shall be over the land of Grantor in the location shown as “(3) Proposed 
Greenway Connection Community Space Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth 5,133 Sq. 
Ft.” on that certain plan entitled “Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty, LLC (Tax Map 119, Lot 
2) 53 Green Street, Portsmouth, New Hampshire” dated August 11, 2021, and revised through
[January 22, 2024] by Doucet Survey LLC and recorded in the Rockingham County Registry of
Deeds as Plan # [________] (hereinafter the “Plan”, and such easement area, the “Easement
Area”). The Plan to be recorded herewith. That easement area is more particularly described as
follows:

Proposed Greenway Connection Community Space Easement 

Beginning at a rebar with ID cap LLS #738, marking the common lot corner between the 
subject parcel, land of Vaughan Street Hotel LLC (Tax Map 124, Lot 10) and land of the 
City of Portsmouth (Tax Map 123, Lot 15) in the City of Portsmouth, County of 
Rockingham, State of New Hampshire;  

Thence along land of said city of Portsmouth N 52° 57' 56" W, a distance of 3.07' to a 
point; 

EXHIBIT C



2 
 

  
Thence N 53° 30' 33" E, a distance of 45.75' to a point;  
 
Thence S 52° 40' 24" E, a distance of 2.47' to a point;  
 
Thence S 52° 40' 24" E, a distance of 0.30' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the left with a delta of 52° 43' 41", a radius of 36.59' and 
a length of 33.67' to a point at the proposed building line; 
 
Thence running along the proposed building line the following five courses; 
 
Thence S 53° 59' 18" E, a distance of 126.33' to a point;  
 
Thence N 36° 00' 42" E, a distance of 1.92' to a point;  
 
Thence S 53° 59' 18" E, a distance of 12.00' to a point;  
 
Thence S 36° 00' 42" W, a distance of 9.92' to a point;  
 
Thence S 53° 59' 18" E, a distance of 67.56' to the point;  

Thence S 37° 51' 12" W, a distance of 20.08' to a point at land of said Vaughan Street Hotel 
LLC;  
 
Thence along land of said Vaughan Street Hotel LLC the following three courses; 
 
Thence N 53° 11' 14" W, a distance of 86.64' to a rebar with ID cap LLC #738; 
  
Thence N 36° 56' 03" E, a distance of 6.50' to a rebar with ID cap LLC #989; 
  
Thence N 53° 03' 57" W, a distance of 152.07' to the rebar at the point of beginning.  
 
Said easement area contains 5,133 square feet and is shown as Proposed Greenway 
Connection Community Space Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth on a plan 
entitled "Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty LLC, Tax Map 119, Lot 2, 53 Green Street, 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire" dated August 11, 2021, by Doucet Survey, LLC and 
recorded in the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds as Plan # [________]. 

 
 

TERMS OF EASEMENT 
 
1. Purpose and Rights: The Grantee shall have a permanent easement and right of way in, 

under, across and over the Easement Area for the purpose of constructing, installing, 
maintaining, and regulating the use of a public bicycle and pedestrian path. The Grantee 
shall have the right to remove trees, bushes, undergrowth and other obstructions 
interfering with the activities authorized herein and to take such other actions as may be 



3 
 

necessary, useful or convenient for the exercise of the easement rights herein granted. 
 

2. Use of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Path: The Grantee shall have the right to access and 
use the entire easement area without interference from or by the Grantor. The Grantee 
reserves the exclusive right to exclude such uses from the easement area as Grantee deems 
at its sole discretion interfere with the public benefit or safe use of the easement area. The 
Grantee shall not interfere with the use of any existing permitted driveways and access 
ways during or after construction of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Path, except as necessary 
for public safety or otherwise permitted by law. 
 

3. Grantor's Retained Rights: Excepting such rights as conferred in this document, the 
Grantor retains all other rights incident to ownership of the Easement Area insofar as the 
exercise thereof does not endanger the public or unreasonably interfere with the purpose 
of this instrument. 
 

4. Easement to Run with Land: All rights and privileges, obligations and liabilities created 
by this instrument shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the heirs, devises, 
administrators, executor, successors and assignees of the Grantee and of the Grantor, the 
parties hereto and all subsequent owners of the Premises and shall run with the land. 
 

5. Compliance with NH RSA 212:34 and NH RSA 508:14: It is the intent of the parties 
to provide for "outdoor recreational activity" on the easement area within the meaning set 
forth in RSA 212:34, and to create a "trail for public recreation use" within the meaning 
provided in NH RSA 508:14, and accordingly provide the liability protections conferred 
by the statutes to both Parties. 

 
MEANING AND INTENDING to convey an easement over the premises conveyed to the 
Grantor by deed of Stone Creek Realty, LLC, dated _______________, and recorded at Book 
_______, Page __________ of the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds. 
 
 
This is an exempt transfer per RSA 78-B:2(I). 
 
  



4 
 

 
DATED this _____ day of _________________________, 2024. 
 
      Stone Creek Realty, LLC 
 
 
      By:         
      Name: 
      Its: 
 
 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
COUNTY OF      
 
The foregoing instrument acknowledged before me on this ___ day of ___________________, 
2021 by   _______________________________________the [Manager] of [Cathartes 53 Green 
Street LLC], a [New Hampshire] limited liability company, on behalf of the limited liability 
company.  
  
Before me, 
 

 
_______________________________________  
Justice of the Peace/Notary Public 
My commission expires: 
Name: __________________________________  
    [print]  

 
 



Return To: 
Legal Department 
City Hall 
1 Junkins Avenue 
Portsmouth, NH  03801 

WIDE SIDEWALK EASEMENT DEED 

  STONE CREEK, LLC a [New Hampshire] limited liability company with a mailing 
address of 11 Portwalk Place, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, hereinafter “Grantor,” for 
consideration paid, grants to the CITY OF PORTSMOUTH, a municipal body politic, having a 
mailing address of 1 Junkins Avenue, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, hereinafter, "Grantee," 
with QUITCLAIM COVENANTS, the following easement with respect to Grantor's real property 
situate on the Easterly side of Green Street in the City of Portsmouth, State of New Hampshire: 

1. Permanent Easement Area:  A permanent easement for the purpose of installing and
maintaining a public sidewalk over the land of GRANTOR in the location shown as “(4)
“Proposed Sidewalk Community Space Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth 2,051
Sq. Ft.” on that certain plan entitled “Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty, LLC (Tax
Map 119, Lot 2) 53 Green Street, Portsmouth, New Hampshire” dated August 11, 2021,
and revised through [January 22, 2024] by Doucet Survey LLC and recorded in the
Rockingham County Registry of Deeds as Plan #[________] (hereinafter "the Plan" and
such easement area, the “Permanent Easement Area”).  The Plan to be recorded herewith.
That easement area is more particularly described as follows:

Proposed Sidewalk Community Space Easement

Beginning at a point on the common lot line between the subject parcel and land of
Vaughan Street Hotel LLC (Tax Map 124, Lot 10) said point being N 53° 11' 14" W, a
distance of 9.24' from a rebar with ID cap LLS #738 on the northwest side of Green Street
in the City of Portsmouth, County of Rockingham, State of New Hampshire;

Thence along land of said Vaughan Street Hotel LLC, N 53° 11' 14" W, a distance of 10.64'
to a point;

Thence N 37° 51' 12" E, a distance of 20.08' to a point at the proposed building line;

Thence along the proposed building line the following four courses;

EXHIBIT D



 2 

 
N 35° 57' 50" E, a distance of 8.00' to a point; 
  
Thence N 36° 01' 19" E, a distance of 36.67' to a point;  
 
Thence N 53° 59' 18" W, a distance of 28.92' to a point;  
 
Thence N 36° 02' 56" E, a distance of 38.33' to a point;  
 
Thence N 35° 52' 12" E, a distance of 9.75' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 57° 29' 02", a radius of 20.00' and 
a length of 20.07' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the left with a delta of 32° 52' 01", a radius of 38.00' and 
a length of 21.80' to a point; 
 
Thence along a curve turning to the left with a delta of 17° 40' 57", a radius of 36.77' and 
a length of 11.35' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the left with a delta of 02° 15' 43", a radius of 36.77' and 
a length of 1.45' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 07° 59' 51", a radius of 15.00' and 
a length of 2.09' to a point;  
 
Thence S 37° 26' 47" W, a distance of 4.38' to a point;  
 
Thence S 37° 26' 47" W, a distance of 38.45' to a point;  
 
Thence along a curve turning to the right with a delta of 03° 28' 05", a radius of 240.00' 
and a length of 14.53' to a point; 
  
Thence S 40° 52' 34" W, a distance of 21.65' to the point of beginning.  
 
Said easement area contains 2,051 square feet and is shown as Proposed Sidewalk 
Community Space Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth on a plan entitled 
"Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty LLC, Tax Map 119, Lot 2, 53 Green Street, 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire" dated August 11, 2021, by Doucet Survey, LLC and 
recorded in the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds as Plan #[________]. 

 
2. Purpose and Rights:  The Grantee shall have a permanent and non-exclusive easement 

and right of way in, under, across and over the Permanent Easement Area for the purpose 
of installing and maintaining a public sidewalk.  The Grantee shall have the right to remove 
trees, bushes, undergrowth and other obstructions interfering with the activities authorized 
herein and to take such other actions as may be necessary, useful or convenient for the 



 3 

enjoyment of the easement rights herein granted.  The Grantee shall have exclusive 
responsibility for maintaining the public sidewalk. 

 
3. Grantee's Responsibility to Restore:  Disturbed areas within the Permanent Easement 

Area shall be restored at the Grantee's expense. 
 
4. Grantor’s Retained Rights:  Grantor retains the right to freely use and enjoy its interest 

in the Permanent Easement Area insofar as the exercise thereof does not endanger or 
unreasonably interfere with the purpose of this instrument.  Grantor shall not, however, 
erect any building, shed, deck or other structure within the Permanent Easement Area or 
change the grade or slope.   Grantor shall not install any pipes under Permanent Easement 
Area without prior written consent of the Grantee.    

 
5. Personal Property.  It is agreed that any facilities installed by the Grantee within the 

Permanent Easement Area, whether fixed to the realty or not, shall be and remain the 
property of the Grantee. 

 
6. Easement to Run with Land:  All rights and privileges, obligations and liabilities created 

by this instrument shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the heirs, devises, 
administrators, executor, successors and assignees of the Grantee and of the Grantor, the 
parties hereto and all subsequent owners of the Premises and shall run with the land. 

 
 MEANING AND INTENDING to convey an easement over a portion of the premises 
conveyed to the within Grantor by deed of Stone Creek Realty, LLC dated  [INSERT DATE] and 
recorded in Book [XXXX], Page [XXXX] of the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds. 
 
 This is an exempt transfer per RSA 78-B:2(I). 
 

[signature page follows] 
  



 4 

 DATED this    day of   , 2024. 
 
       Stone Creek Realty, LLC   
   
 
 
       By:        
       Name: 
       Its:    
 
 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
COUNTY OF      
 
The foregoing instrument acknowledged before me on this ___ day of ___________________, 
2021 by   _______________________________________the [Manager] of [Cathartes 53 Green 
Street LLC], a [New Hampshire] limited liability company, on behalf of the limited liability 
company.  
  
Before me, 
 

 
_______________________________________  
Justice of the Peace/Notary Public 
My commission expires: 
Name: __________________________________  
    [print]  

 
 
 
 
 



Return To: 
Legal Department 
City Hall 
1 Junkins Avenue 
Portsmouth, NH  03801 

SEWER EASEMENT DEED 

  STONE CREEK REALTY, LLC, a New Hampshire limited liability company with a 
mailing address of  [PO Box 121, New Castle, New Hampshire 03854], hereinafter “Grantor,” for 
consideration paid, grants to the CITY OF PORTSMOUTH, a municipal body politic, having a 
mailing address of 1 Junkins Avenue, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, hereinafter, "Grantee," 
with QUITCLAIM COVENANTS, the following easement with respect to Grantor's real property 
situate on the Easterly side of Green Street in the City of Portsmouth, State of New Hampshire: 

1. Permanent Easement Area:  A permanent twenty (20) foot wide easement for the purpose
of a sewage pipe over the land of GRANTOR in the location shown as “(1) Proposed 20’
Wide Sewer Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth 6,443 Sq. Ft.” on a plan entitled,
“Easement Plan for Stone Creek Realty, LLC (Tax Map 119, Lot 2) 53 Green Street,
Portsmouth, New Hampshire” dated August 11, 2021, and revised through [January 22,
2024] by Doucet Survey LLC and recorded in the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds
as Plan #[________] (hereinafter "the Plan" and such easement area, the “Permanent
Easement Area”).  The Plan to be recorded herewith. That easement area is more
particularly described as follows:

Proposed 20’ Wide Sewer Easement

Beginning at a railroad spike on the northwest side of Green Street in the City of
Portsmouth, County of Rockingham, State of New Hampshire said point being the
southeast corner of the easement area herein described;

Thence along Green Street S 36° 00' 42" W, running through a railroad spike a distance of
38.21' to a point marking the southwest corner of said easement area;

Thence N 04° 27' 13" E, a distance of 10.79' to a point;

Thence N 04° 27' 13" E, a distance of 6.29' to a point;

EXHIBIT E



 2 

Thence N 04° 27' 13" E, a distance of 306.72' to a point marking the northwest corner of 
said easement area;  
 
Thence N 38° 50' 21" E, a distance of 35.41' to a rebar with ID cap LLS #989 at the 
northeast corner of said easement area; 
 
Thence S 04° 27' 13" W, a distance of 320.46' to the railroad spike at the point of beginning.  
 
Said easement area contains 6,443 square feet and is shown as Proposed 20’ Wide Sewer 
Easement to Benefit the City of Portsmouth on a plan entitled "Easement Plan for Stone 
Creek Realty, LLC, Tax Map 119, Lot 2, 53 Green Street, Portsmouth, New Hampshire" 
dated August 11, 2021, by Doucet Survey, LLC and recorded in the Rockingham County 
Registry of Deeds as Plan #[________]. 

 
2. Purpose and Rights:  The Grantee shall have a permanent and non-exclusive easement 

and right of way in, under, across and over the Permanent Easement Area for the purpose 
of installing,  maintaining, inspecting, removing, repairing, and replacing a sewer line with 
its associated pipes, manholes, and appurtenances.  The Grantee shall have the right to 
remove obstructions including pavement, curbing, trees, bushes, undergrowth and other 
obstructions interfering with the activities authorized herein and to take such other actions 
as may be necessary, useful or convenient for the enjoyment of the easement rights herein 
granted.  The Grantee agrees to preserve access to any driveways and parking areas to the 
extent reasonably practicable. 

 
3. Grantee's Responsibility to Restore:  Disturbed areas within the Permanent Easement 

Area shall be back-filled and restored at the Grantee's expense.  Paving and curbing and 
similar materials shall also be restored at the Grantee's expense. 

 
4. Grantor’s Retained Rights:  Grantor retains the right to freely use and enjoy its interest 

in the Permanent Easement Area insofar as the exercise thereof does not endanger or 
unreasonably interfere with the purpose of this instrument.  Grantor shall not, however, 
erect any building, shed, deck or other structure within the Permanent Easement Area, 
substantially change the grade or slope, or install any pipes in the Permanent Easement 
Area without prior written consent of the Grantee.    

 
5. Personal Property.  It is agreed that the pipes, manholes, and appurtenances related to the 

public sewer main installed within the Permanent Easement Area, whether fixed to the 
realty or not, shall be and remain the property of the Grantee.  Pipes, manholes and 
appurtenances related to any drain lines are the responsibility of the Grantor. 

 
6. Easement to Run with Land:  All rights and privileges, obligations and liabilities created 

by this instrument shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the heirs, devises, 
administrators, executor, successors and assignees of the Grantee and of the Grantor, the 
parties hereto and all subsequent owners of the Premises and shall run with the land. 

 
 MEANING AND INTENDING to convey an easement over a portion of the premises 
conveyed to the within Grantor by Warranty Deed of  [Irene N. Peterson and Bank of New 



 3 

Hampshire, Successor co-Trustees of the Roy D. Peterson Revocable Trust created U/T/A dated 
March 21, 1996, as amended, dated  [March 31, 1999] and recorded in Book [3378], Page [2467] 
of the Rockingham County Registry of Deeds. 
 
 This is an exempt transfer per RSA 78-B:2(I). 
 

[signature page follows] 
  



 4 

 DATED this    day of   , 2024. 
 
       [Stone Creek Realty, LLC]   
     
 
 
       By:        
       Name: 
       Its:    
 
 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
COUNTY OF      
 
The foregoing instrument acknowledged before me on this ___ day of ___________________, 
2021 by   _______________________________________the _____________ of [Stone Creek 
Realty, LLC], a New Hampshire limited liability company, on behalf of the limited liability 
company.  
  
Before me, 
 

 
_______________________________________  
Justice of the Peace/Notary Public 
My commission expires: 
Name: __________________________________  
    [print]  

 
 
 



Return to: 
City of Portsmouth 
Attn: Legal Department 
1 Junkins Avenue 
Portsmouth, NH 03801 

ACCESS EASEMENT FOR WATER SERVICES 

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that [Cathartes 53 Green Street LLC] with an 
address of 11 Portwalk Place Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, for consideration received, 
grants to the City of Portsmouth, a municipal body politic having a mailing address of 1 Junkins 
Avenue, Portsmouth, County of Rockingham and State of New Hampshire 03801, with 
QUITCLAIM COVENANTS an easement over, below, along, and across the premises 
described herein, located at 53 Green Street, County of Rockingham, State of New Hampshire, 
(Tax Assessor's Map No. 119, Lot 2), and being more particularly described as follows: 

[A certain tract or parcel of land with the buildings therein situated on – PROVIDE 
DESCRIPTION – by reference to a recorded plan or metes and bonds description as may 
be appropriate.] 

Meaning and intending to convey an easement over the premises conveyed to the within grantor by 
Deed of Stone Creek Realty, LLC, dated ______________ and recorded in the Rockingham 
County Registry of Deeds at Book _____, Page _____. 

Purpose and Rights:  The Grantee shall have a perpetual, permanent uninterrupted and 
unobstructed nonexclusive easement for the purpose of enabling the City of Portsmouth to access 
private water infrastructure including mains, water shutoffs, and valves for the limited purpose of 
leak detection and similar infrastructure inspection services and for access to valves for purposes 
of turning on and shutting off municipal water service.  Grantee shall have no responsibility for 
installation, maintenance, operation, or replacement of the water infrastructure. 

Retained Rights:  Grantor retains the right to freely use and enjoy its interest in the easement area 
insofar as the exercise thereof does not interfere with the purpose of this instrument. 

Easement To Run With Land:  All rights and privileges, obligations and liabilities created by this 
instrument shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the heirs, devises, administrators, 
executor, successors and assignees of the Grantee and of the Grantor, the parties hereto and all 
subsequent owners of the Premises and shall run with the land. 

EXHIBIT F



 This is an exempt transfer per R.S.A. 78-B:2(I). 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this document on the _____ day of 
 ________________ , 20__. 
 
       [CATHARTES 53 GREEN STREET LLC]
        
 
 
       By:        
       Name: 
       Its:    
 
 
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE 
COUNTY OF      
 
The foregoing instrument acknowledged before me on this ___ day of ___________________, 
2021 by   _______________________________________the [Manager] of [Cathartes 53 Green 
Street LLC], a [New Hampshire] limited liability company, on behalf of the limited liability 
company.  
  
Before me, 
 

 
_______________________________________  
Justice of the Peace/Notary Public 
My commission expires: 
Name: __________________________________  
    [print]  

 
 
 



Projecting Sign – 1 Market Square 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  

TO: Karen Conard, City Manager 

FROM: Peter Britz, Planning & Sustainability Director  
DATE: September  4, 2024 
RE: City Council Referral – Projecting Signs 

Address: 1 Market Square 
Business Name:  Overland Sheepskin Company 
Business Owner: Roger Leahy 

  
Permission is being sought to install two projecting signs that extends over the public 
right of way, as follows: 

Sign dimensions:  15” x 40” & 18” x 48” 
Sign area: 4.16 sq. ft.  & 6 sq. ft.  
  

The proposed signs comply with zoning requirements. If a license is granted by the City 
Council, no other municipal approvals are needed. Therefore, I recommend approval of 
a revocable municipal license, subject to the following conditions: 

1. The license shall be approved by the Legal Department as to content and form; 
2. Any removal or relocation of the signs, for any reason, shall be done at no cost to 

the City; and 
3. Any disturbance of a sidewalk, street or other public infrastructure resulting from 

the installation, relocation or removal of the signs, for any reason, shall be 
restored at no cost to the City and shall be subject to review and acceptance by 
the Department of Public Works. 

 



0

3
3

3 3
3

3 3

9

6

9
7

5
1

32

4
6

8

9

4

10

20
20

11

19

10

20

23
22 20

10
18 12

16

20

24

HIGH ST

LADD ST

MARKET SQ

Request for license 
1 Market Square² 0 30 6015

Feet

Map produced by Planning & Sustainability Department 9-4-24



SIGN 2

• 2-sided blade 15”h x 40”w (area sq ft 4.16)  
with mountain logo 

• Hanging from hooks of existing bracket, 
rectangle shape, with texture.

• Mountain top protrudes slightly above sign.
• Sign color Brown.  SW Turkish Coffee.
• Raised letters, mountain, ESTABLISHED 

1973 and lines – color white / HOS ivory
• 1-piece carving, MDO backer
• HDU core with 2 hanging eye hooks.



SIGN 3

• 2-sided blade sign 18”h x 
48”w (area sq ft 6)  with 
mountain logo 

• Hanging from hooks of 
existing bracket, rectangle 
shape, with texture.

• Mountain top protrudes 
slightly above sign.

• Sign color Brown.  SW 
Turkish Coffee.

• Raised letters, mountain, 
ESTABLISHED 1973 and 
lines – color white / HOS 
ivory

• 1-piece carving, MDO backer
• HDU core with 2 hanging eye 

hooks.



Sign 1 = 
15.0’ from sidewalk to sign bracket
13.1’ from sidewalk to bottom of sign (including a 4” 
sign clearance off bracket).

Sign 2 = 13.8’ from sidewalk to sign bracket
11.9’ from sidewalk to bottom of sign (including 
a 4” sign clearance off bracket).

15.0’

13.8’
11.9’

13.1’

4” clearance from bracket to top of sign

4” clearance from bracket to top of sign



September 10, 2024 

 

Dear Mayor McEachern & City Council Members,   
 
I am writing on behalf of the Seacoast Paddleboard Club (SPC) to seek your approval to 
host our 6th Annual on Sunday, October 27, 2024, from 9:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. at the 
Peirce Island Boat Ramp. This event, which typically attracts 20 - 30 paddlers, serves as a 
fundraiser for the Portsmouth Halloween Parade. One hundred percent of the registration 
fee ($20.00) is donated directly to the Portsmouth Halloween Parade organization via their 
PayPal account. 
 
Below is our proposed schedule of events for the day. The paddle itself will consist of a 
short circumnavigation around Round Island. 
 
9:00 a.m. - 10:00 a.m. - Peirce Island Cleanup (materials will be provided by SPC & Blue 
Ocean Society) 
10:15 a.m. to 11:00 a.m. - Costume Paddle & Judging 
11:15 a.m. - 11:30 p.m. - Award Ceremony (1st & 2nd Place will be awarded for the 
following categories: Spookiest, Funniest, Most Creative, Nautical Theme, and best group -
- up to six members). 
 
All paddle participants are required to wear proper safety gear, including a PDF and a leash 
(for paddle boarders). We will once again have an insurance binder issued for this event 
naming the City of Portsmouth as additionally insured up to $1M. The Park cleanup is open 
to the general public -- no purchase is necessary. 
 
If you have any questions or recommendations, please let me know. If you'd prefer to speak 
with me by phone, I can be reached at 603.498.8198. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
Respectfully, 
Chris Carragher 









City Council Emails from Tuesday, September 3, 2024 through 

 Wednesday, September 18, 2024 

 

First Name 

barbara 

 

Last Name 

marino 

 

Email 

barbara15825@yahoo.com 

 

Address 

1345 ISLINGTON ST 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 

 

Message 

Another year has gone by and there is nothing to protect walkers or alert drivers to the crossing at 

Islington and the bike path. How about just painting a crosswalk there? I know eventually you want to 

put in an electronic signal but don't let the perfect be the enemy of the good. Paint the darn crosswalk 

please  

 

Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the upcoming City 

Council meeting. 

Yes 

First Name 

Cathy 

 

Last Name 

Baker 

 

Email 

catherinejbaker@yahoo.com 

 

Address 

127 Gates St 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801-4606 

 

Message 

https://www.newscientist.com/article/2444394-part-of-the-atlantic-is-cooling-at-record-speed-and-

nobody-knows-why/ 

 

  

mailto:barbara15825@yahoo.com
mailto:catherinejbaker@yahoo.com
https://www.newscientist.com/article/2444394-part-of-the-atlantic-is-cooling-at-record-speed-and-nobody-knows-why/
https://www.newscientist.com/article/2444394-part-of-the-atlantic-is-cooling-at-record-speed-and-nobody-knows-why/


Perhaps we should hold off on that very expensive exercise, our Climate Action plan, in the light of 

cooling in both the Atlantic and Pacific we may decide we need a little CO2 to create a little heat, and 

keep the plant life, upon which we all depend, alive. 

 

https://atoc.colorado.edu/~vanderwb/5810/flora.html  

 

Things like our Climate Action plan make a great jobs program for govt funded 'scientists' who 

perpetuate the climate myth, and consultants and sustainability employees, but it is not only a waste 

of taxpayer money at all levels, but a manipulative excuse for government control of a gullible 

citizenry. Put that Climate Action plan on hold. How much support is there anyway for something that 

had 3 public input sessions with less than 30 participants at the last 2, and only double that at the first 

one, in a city of over 20K people? 

 

Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 

upcoming City Council meeting. 

Yes 

First Name 

Erik 

 

Last Name 

Anderson 

 

Email 

andy42152@aol.com 

 

Address 

38 Georges Terrace 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 

 

Message 

Dear Councilors 

NH DOT in their CIP plans had the Portsmouth Sound Barrier project approved, issued a RFP and 

had 1 bidder submit a bid 4 million over the projected price of 14 million. It was scheduled to begin 

construction this summer but nothing has happened and the project has gone cold. It is thought that 

the Gov. and Gov. Council must approve the additional 4 million but it has not appeared on their 

agenda yet. Is it possible to find out the status of this project (30 years in the making). Thank you for 

your time and any reply welcome 

Erik Anderson 

 

Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 

upcoming City Council meeting. 

Yes 

 

https://atoc.colorado.edu/~vanderwb/5810/flora.html
mailto:andy42152@aol.com


First Name 

Scott 

 

Last Name 

Bornstein 

 

Email 

werscoraja@yahoo.com 

 

Address 

42 Squid St 

Portsmouth, New Hampshire. 03801 

 

Message 

Councilors, One of the marks of good leadership is the ability to recognize a problem as it emerges, 

and address it before it negatively impacts our community. While I am sure some of you are aware, all 

need to be, and action will need to be taken to protect our city residents.  

 

Recently, my wife was seen at the ER at PRH. The Doctor on duty was the only in-house Doctor 

handling the 45 beds of the ER. He told us he's currently working 6 days, 6am-9pm. There were 3 

Nurses on duty, a ratio of 1:15 beds. My wife was to be admitted, but there was nobody to do the 

paperwork. 68 hours later she was discharged, from the ER. Now, with Beth Israel Lahey terminating 

ALS service from Exeter Hospital (just changed to a date in December), and today's announcement 

that they are eliminating discontinuing pediatric dental, neurology, and podiatry, occupational health 

and acupuncture the demand on PRH is about to increase exponentially. The ER staffing ratios I 

shared above are dangerous, potentially life threatening and an open invitation for errors. We have a 

fantastic, qualified, experienced ER staff, but one that is dangerously small for the need of the 

communities.  

 

Maybe it is time for our leadership to meet with both PRH (HCA) and BIL (Exeter) and form a solid, 

safe plan BEFORE a crisis or disaster hits. I thank you for your time, and concern. Be well.  

 

Please indicate if you would like your comment to be part of the public record for the 

upcoming City Council meeting. 

Yes 

 

 

mailto:werscoraja@yahoo.com


Christine Groleau
North Church of Portsmouth
2 Congress Street
Portsmouth, NH 03801

September 3, 2024

Portsmouth City Council
c/o Kelli Barnaby, City Clerk
City Hall
1 Junkins Avenue
Portsmouth, NH 03801

Dear Members of the Portsmouth City Council,

I am writing on behalf of North Church of Portsmouth to formally request a reduction or waiver of
the fees associated with our upcoming construction project. As a non-profit organization
dedicated to serving our community, we are committed to enhancing the accessibility, safety,
and functionality of our historic building, located at 2 Congress Street, which will enable us to
better serve Portsmouth residents and visitors alike.

Our project aims to make significant improvements that will open our space for broader
community use, increase accessibility for individuals with disabilities, and enhance safety
measures in and around the building. These enhancements reflect our mission to support and
engage with the community, and we believe they will have a positive impact on the City.

As a non-profit entity, we are mindful of the financial challenges associated with such projects. A
reduction or waiver of the associated fees would alleviate this financial burden and allow us to
allocate more resources directly toward these critical improvements and continuing our mission
to serve the residents of Portsmouth and the surrounding community.

We greatly value our partnership with the City of Portsmouth and are grateful for the support the
City has provided thus far. We hope that you will consider our request favorably, recognizing the
mutual benefit that these improvements will bring to the community.

Thank you for your time and consideration. I am happy to provide any additional information or
answer any questions the Council may have. Please feel free to contact me at (603) 475-4968
or cgroleau@comcast.net.

With hope and gratitude,

Christine Groleau
Construction liaison to the Cabinet
North Church of Portsmouth

Cc: Karen Conard



PPMtv requests $48,000 to get through the remainder of
this fiscal year. We also request that the council revise the
2009 cable franchise fee policy to remit 60% of the annual
fee to PPMtv, with 40% retained in the City's general fund.

This policy is well in-line with the examples set by other
cities and their respective stations, both in terms of
anticipated amount as well as the percentage cut.

To address concerns surrounding PPMtv's sustainability in
the face of dipping fees, we want to reassure that this

policy will not deter PPMtv's fundraising efforts. With a new
and reinvigorated board, our fundraising efforts are greater

than ever and will continue to exceed the average
fundraising goals for public access stations in the region.

For further details, please review the attached materials or
reach out to us.

Proposal for the RevisedProposal for the RevisedProposal for the Revised
Cable Franchise Fee PolicyCable Franchise Fee PolicyCable Franchise Fee Policy



Why $48,000? Our expenses average $12,000 per month

between rent/utilities and salary. We’re actively minimizing

these costs as much as possible. $48,000 will ensure that

we meet the bottom-line in order to stay operational until

the changed policy takes effect in July 2025.

Why 60-40? Both in terms of the percentage rate and the

average amounts, this is comparable to most nearby

stations. Even at a reduced fee, 60% will sustain PPMtv and

encourage growth for years to come.

Proposal for the RevisedProposal for the RevisedProposal for the Revised
Cable Franchise Fee PolicyCable Franchise Fee PolicyCable Franchise Fee Policy



Sustainable StrategiesSustainable Strategies
Fundraising plans include: 

Grant writing. Our board is pursuing numerous grants and
donors, including (not limited to):

Bangor Savings grants
Arthur Vining Davis Foundation
The Lawrence Foundation
Max & Victoria Dreyfus Foundation
ITVS Documentary Film Funding (for individual productions)
Potential grant-writing assistance from the City

Events. We have several large-scale fundraising events in the
works, including:

Holiday Live Fund Drive: a live holiday variety show
scheduled for December, combining live theater and
broadcasted production. Funding sources include VIP
seating and underwriter slots for the show
Public Domain Movie Nights: Screenings at our studio space
with a suggested donation at door. Minimal expenses and
the ability for consistent shows.
Online Art Auction: Local artists donate their work to be
auctioned to PPMtv’s benefit - as well as promoted on our
channel and other platforms. 

Sponsors & underwriters. In addition to our already-significant
sponsorship program, we’re offering underwriter slots for our
existing programs.
“Sponsor a stage” program. An organization can donate
annually to have their name on one of our stages.

This program extends on a smaller level to our Wall of
Sponsors, where we’re selling 12 backlit slots where a
sponsor’s logo and name will be displayed.

This is not a comprehensive list.

































September 13, 2024 

Dear Mayor McEachern and City Council, 

While I’m not thrilled to shar this news, I will unfortunately be resigning from the 
Conservation Commission. I have already discussed this with Kate Homet. If you need 
anything further from me, please let me know. 

Thanks, 

Adam Fitzpatrick 

































 

 

Date:  September 20, 2024 

To:  MAYOR MCEACHERN AND THE CITY COUNCIL 

From:  ASSISTANT MAYOR JOANNA KELLEY, ON BEHALF OF THE LEGISLATIVE  

  SUBCOMMITTEE 

Re:  LEGISLATIVE SUBCOMMITTEE’S RECOMMENDATION FOR APPROVAL OF  

  NHMA’S PROPOSED LEGISLATIVE PRINCIPLES AND THE 2025-2026  

  PROPOSED LEGISLATIVE POLICY POSITIONS 

 

The Legislative Subcommittee met on Friday, September 20, 2024 to review the New 

Hampshire Municipal Association’s (“NHMA”) the one page Proposed Principles 2025-2026 and 

the Proposed Policies 2025-2026 (12 pages) and additional floor policies included in the City 

Council packet. 

 By way of background, before each legislative session begins, NHMA drafts broad legislative 

principles that guide the creation of legislative policies for its membership to review and 

approve. The governing body of each NHMA member must vote on whether to support or 

oppose these Proposed Principles 2025-2026 and the Proposed Policies 2025-2026 and floor 

policies submitted by its membership.  

The Mayor, or designee, will relay the City’s vote on these Principles and Policies at NHMA’s 

Legislative Policy Conference on Friday, September 27, 2022. NHMA’s Principles and Policies 

for 2025-26 will be determined by the vote of the majority of its members at the conference. 

Once adopted, these Principles and Policies will permit NHMA staff to lobby on bills that support 

the adopted Principles and Policies during the next legislative session.  

At its Friday September 20, 2024 meeting, the Legislative Subcommittee voted to accept and 

approve the Principles and Policies subject to minor recommended changes: 

 

1. On page 10 of the Proposed Policies add a new policy under Land Use policies 

supported by NHMA as follows: 

 

• Legislation and policies that take into consideration the value of housing as a 

regional resource. 

 

2. On page 10 of the Proposed Policies remove two listed policies under Land Use 

policies opposed by NHMA by deleting the following: 

 

• New state mandates requiring municipalities to allow specific types of 

housing; and 

• All other statewide land use mandates. 

The Legislative Subcommittee discussed that many of the bills that come forward regarding land 

use regulations that would help increase housing stock and affordable housing, like increasing 

density and reducing parking requirements, come forward as statewide land use mandates 



 

 

opposed by NHMA. Since there are many obstacles to the creation of much needed housing 

generally and affordable housing specifically, the Committee wanted to carve out an exception 

to NHMA’s opposition to statewide mandates regarding legislation that would assist in the 

creation of housing by removing these two policies.   

If the City Council votes to approve the NHMA Proposed Principles and Policies for 2025-2026 

the following motion should be adopted: 

Proposed Motion: Appoint the Assistant Mayor or alternate to act as a delegate at the NHMA 

Legislative Policy Conference and move to accept and approve NHMA’s Proposed Principles 

and Proposed Policies for 2025-2026 and Floor Policies as recommended by the Legislative 

Subcommittee which includes the recommended changes. 

 



 
 

PARKING and TRAFFIC SAFETY COMMITTEE  
ACTION SHEET 

8:30 A.M. – September 5, 2024 
Conference Room A 

 
PRESENT: Members:  Chairman Andrew Bagley, Steve Pesci, Public Works Director 

Peter Rice, City Manager Karen Conard, Deputy Police Chief Mike Maloney, 
Fire Chief Bill McQuillen, Mark Syracusa, Mary Lou McElwain, Erica 
Wygonik, Dave Allen (alternate) 
 

 City Staff:  City Engineer Eric Eby, Parking Director Ben Fletcher, Associate 
Engineer Tyler Reese 

 

ACTION ITEMS FOR CITY COUNCIL 
 

• Portwalk Place, voted to renew annual valet parking license agreement for Parade 
Residence Hotel LLC. 

• Portwalk Place, voted to renew annual valet parking license agreement for Portwalk HI 
LLC. 

• Chapter 7, Section 7.1004, Voted to recommend approval of changes to Ordinance to City 
Council. 

 
• Roll Call 

 
• Financial Report:  Voted to accept and place on file Financial Report dated July 31st, 2024. 
 
• Public Comment Session: There were 10 speakers. Meredith and Jay Kobzik and Nancy 

Yarmac spoke regarding speeding on Islington Street. Dave Rheaume spoke regarding the 
proposed all-way stop at McDonough Street and Langdon Street. Jane Mitchell Pate, Greg 
Hebert, Joni Lane and Bryce Pate spoke regarding the Greenleaf Avenue sidewalk project 
and proposed traffic changes in the Hillside Drive neighborhood, and Matthew Glenn (Z) 
and Jonathan Sandberg (Z) spoke regarding the proposal to eliminate the separate left turn 
lane on Congress Street at Islington Street and spoke regarding removing parking along 
Middle Street at Cass Street. 
 

• Congress Street, proposal to reduce lanes and widen sidewalk on Congress Street 
between Chestnut Street and Maplewood Avenue:  Voted to have staff continue to 
develop proposal, incorporating suggestions and comments from meeting, and report back 
closer to start of construction. 

 
• Portwalk Place, request to renew valet license agreements for Portwalk HI LLC and 

Parade Residence Hotel LLC:  Voted to approve renewal of both license agreements. 
 
• Middle Street, request to remove parking near intersection of Cass Street: Voted to 

schedule site visit and put out flyer notifying abutters of meeting. 
 
• Hill Street, request for signage to address vehicles turning around in private street: 

Voted to refer to staff to post signage as deemed appropriate. 
 
• City Ordinances, Chapter 7, proposed changes to Section 7.1004: Voted to approve 

changes as presented. 



 
 

 
• Hancock Street at Washington Street, request for all-way stop:  Voted to schedule 

site visit and refer to staff for further evaluation and report back. 
 
• McDonough Street, request for all-way stop at Langdon Street:  Voted to approve 

STOP signs on McDonough Street to create all-way stop-controlled intersection. 
 
• Police monthly accident report: Informational; no action required. 

 
• City road construction projects update: Informational; no action required. 
 
• State legislation update: Informational; no action required. 
 
• Seacoast Greenway Rail Trail rules: Informational; no action required. 
 

 
 

Respectfully submitted by: Eric Eby 



PARKING and TRAFFIC SAFETY COMMITTEE 
PORTSMOUTH, NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
CITY HALL CONFERENCE ROOM A 

CITY HALL, MUNICIPAL COMPLEX, 1 JUNKINS AVENUE 

Members of the public also had the option to join the meeting over Zoom  
 

8:30 AM September 5th, 2024 
 

MINUTES 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Councilor Andrew Bagley called the meeting to order at 8:30 AM.  
 

II. ATTENDANCE 
 
Members Present: 
Chairman Andrew Bagley 
Vice Chair Steve Pesci  
Public Works Director Peter Rice 
City Manager Karen Conard 
Deputy Police Chief Mike Maloney 
Erica Wygonik  
Fire Chief William McQuillen  
Mark Syracusa  
Mary Lou McElwain  
Dave Allen (alternate) 
 
City Staff Present: 
Parking Director Ben Fletcher 
City Engineer – Parking, Transportation and Planning Eric Eby 
Associate Engineer Tyler Reece 
 
Chairman Bagley announced that Vice Chair Steve Pesci would be stepping down from the 
committee and thanked him for his five years of service to the committee.   

 
III. FINANCIAL REPORT 

 
[00:06:17] Mark Syracusa moved to accept the financial report dated July 31st, 2024, seconded 
by Mary Lou McElwain.  Motion carried 9-0.  

 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENT 

 
[00:09:04] There were 10 speakers:  Meredith and Jay Kobzik and Nancy Yarmac spoke regarding 
speeding on Islington Street and Dave Rheaume spoke regarding the proposed all way stop at 
McDonough Street and Langdon Street.  Jane Mitchell Pate, Greg Hebert, Joni Lane and Bryce 
Pate spoke regarding the Greenleaf Avenue sidewalk project and proposed traffic changes in the 
Hillside Drive neighborhood, and Matthew Glenn (Z) and Jonathan Sandberg (Z) spoke regarding 



the proposal to eliminate the exclusive left-turn lane on Congress Street at Islington Street and 
spoke regarding removing parking along Middle Street at Cass Street. 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS 
 
[00:33:15] Proposed Congress Street modifications between Chestnut Street and Maplewood 
Avenue, by Department of Public Works.   
 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 
(No public comment during Committee discussion without Committee approval.) 
 
A. [00:33:21] Congress Street, proposal to reconfigure section of Congress Street between 

Chestnut Street and Maplewood Avenue, to reduce number of lanes and widen sidewalk.  
Peter Rice moved to have staff continue to develop the proposed changes and incorporate 
suggestions and comments made in the meeting and report back closer to the start of 
construction.  City Manager Karen Conard seconded and the motion passed 9-0. 
 
[00:52:35] Committee Chair Bagley requested a motion to suspend the rules and bring up 
Item A under old business.  Peter Rice made the motion and City Manager Karen Conard 
seconded.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 
[00:52:44] Old Business:  Greenleaf Avenue, report back on public meeting for sidewalks 
and traffic calming.  Eric Eby gave an update on the next steps of the sidewalk project.  No 
motion was made.  
 

B. [00:58:42] Portwalk Place, request to renew annual valet parking license agreement for 
Portwalk HI LLC, by business owner.  Peter Rice moved to approve renewal of annual valet 
license agreement for Portwalk HI LLC.  Mark Syracusa seconded and the motion passed 9-
0.  
 

C. [00:59:01] Portwalk Place, request to renew annual valet parking license agreement for 
Parade Residence Hotel LLC, by business owner.  Peter Rice moved to approve renewal of 
annual valet license agreement for Parade Residence Hotel LLC, seconded by City Manager 
Karen Conard.  The motion passed unanimously.  
 

D. [01:00:36] Middle Street, request to remove parking at intersection with Cass Street.  Mark 
Syracusa moved to schedule a site visit and notice abutters of meeting.  A discussion 
followed regarding the noticing of abutters and how the Committee notices residents.  City 
Manager Karen Conard requested to modify Mark Syracusa’s motion to request that a flyer 
go out to abutters ahead of the site visit.  The motion passed 9-0.  
 

E. [01:02:10] Hill Street, request for signage to address vehicles turning around in private 
street at end of Hill Street.  Peter Rice motioned to refer to staff to post signage as deemed 
appropriate.  Mary Lou McElwain seconded and the motion carried 9-0.  
 

F. [01:05:15] City Ordinances, Chapter 7, Vehicles, Traffic and Parking, proposed changes to 
Section 7.1004 Towing or Immobilization of Motor Vehicles for Non-Payment of Parking 



Fines.  Parking Director Ben Fletcher and Assistant City Attorney Jane Ferrini spoke regarding 
the proposed changes.  Peter Rice moved to approve changes to Section 7.1004 as 
presented.  Steve Pesci seconded the motion, and the motion passed 9-0.  

 
G. [01:09:14] Hancock Street at Washington Street, request for all-way stop, by resident.  Steve 

Pesci moved to schedule a site visit and refer to staff for further evaluation and report back, 
Erica Wygonik seconded, and the motion passed unanimously.  

 
VII. OLD BUSINESS 

 
A. [01:10:12] McDonough Street, request for all-way stop control at intersection with Langdon 

Street, by residents.  Mary Lou McElwain moved to approve installation of STOP signs on 
McDonough Street to create all-way stop control at intersection with Langdon Street.  City 
Manager Karen Conard seconded the motion, and the motion carried 9-0.  

 
VIII. INFORMATIONAL 

 
A. [01:13:06] Police monthly accident report 
B. [01:13:39] City road construction projects update.  Eric Eby additionally commented that the 

City was awarded a CMAQ grant to remove the traffic signal at Coakley Road and the Route 
1 Bypass.  

C. [01:16:47] Proposed state legislation update 
D. [01:18:54] Seacoast Greenway Rail Trail rules  

 
IX. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Chairman Bagley adjourned the meeting at 9:49 AM.  
 
Respectfully submitted, 
Tyler Reece 
Associate Engineer 
Department of Public Works 

 



 

 

ORDINANCE # 
 
THE CITY OF PORTSMOUTH ORDAINS 

That Chapter 7, VEHICLES, TRAFFIC and PARKING, Article X TOWING, Section 
7.1004, TOWING OR IMMOBILIZATION OF MOTOR VEHICLES FOR NON-PAYMENT OF 
PARKING FINES, of the Ordinances of the City of Portsmouth, be amended as follows 
(deletions from existing language stricken; additions to existing language bolded; 
remaining language unchanged from existing): 
 

Section 7.1004: TOWING OR IMMOBILIZATION OR TOWING OF MOTOR 
VEHICLES FOR NON-PAYMENT OF PARKING FINES PENALTIES 

 
A. PURPOSE 

 
Notwithstanding any other provisions of these Ordinances, motor vehicles may be 
towed and stored, or otherwise immobilized by an mechanical Immobilization 
Device for non-payment of Parking Violations fines, in accordance with the 
following terms and conditions. 

 
B. DEFINITIONS 
 

1. PARKING CLERKS: The City Manager is hereby authorized to designate 
one or more Parking Clerks. The Parking Clerk may be any individual 
employed by the City of Portsmouth whose position of employment is 
conducive to the performsance of to perform the duties contained in this 
section and other duties associated with the operation of the Parking Clerk’s 
Office, including but not limited to maintaining parking records, reviewing 
and rendering decisions on parking appeals, and collecting payment of 
Parking Penalties. 
 

2. OWNERSHIP OR CONTROL: The fact that a motor vehicle which is 
illegally parked subject to a Parking Violation is registered in the name of 
a person, business, or corporation (“Owner’), shall be considered prima 
facie proof that the Owner such person, business, or corporation was in 
control of the motor vehicle at the time of such Parking Violation or that the 
Owner such person, business, or corporation had authorized the use of 
such the registered motor vehicle.  

 
3. IMMOBILIZATION AND TOW RECORD: The Parking Clerk’s Office shall 

maintain records of all vehicles that individually or in combination with other 
vehicles owned by the same Owner, have accumulated unpaid Parking 
Penalties in excess of two hundred and fifty dollars ($250). The Parking 
Clerk’s Office will send a letter by first class mail to the registered Owner of 
vehicle(s) listed on the Immobilization and Tow Record if owner vehicle 
records are available. A vehicle included in the Immobilization and Tow 
Record is subject to being immobilized by an Immobilization Device or towed 
and held in storage pending final resolution of unpaid Parking Penalties. 

 
4. IMMOBILIZATION DEVICE: A vehicle boot, wheel clamp, windshield 

blocking device, or any other apparatus which may be used for the purpose 
of immobilizing a vehicle listed in the Immobilization and Tow Record.  



 

 

 
5. ILLEGALLY PARKED: The term "illegally parked" as used in this particular 

section and all other sections concerning PARKING in the Ordinances of 
the City of Portsmouth shall mean any vehicle that that is subject to a 
Parking Violation, including but not limited those violations listed in Article 
IX, Section 7.901 of the Chapter: Any motor vehicle which is parked 
beyond the time limit for which money has been deposited in the 
metered space occupied by that particular motor vehicle, any vehicle 
parked beyond the time limit permitted in a restricted time free parking 
area, any vehicle parked beyond the time permitted at a restricted time 
metered parking space, any vehicle parked in a designated no-parking 
zone, and any vehicle although legally parked, which on that particular date and 
time, has accumulated five or more unpaid Parking Violations or which has 
accumulated unpaid parking violations in an amount in excess of two 
hundred fifty dollars on any or all vehicles at any time registered to the owner 
of said vehicle as shown on the records and is and any vehicle included in  the 
Immobilization and Tow Record maintained by the Parking Clerk. 

 
6. PARKING PENALTIES: This Chapter sets forth parking and traffic rules and 

regulations. Violating these parking and traffic rules and regulations 
subjects the Owner of a vehicle to different forfeitures, penalties, fees and 
fines. For purposes of this Chapter, all such forfeitures, penalties, fees and 
fines are referred to collectively as Parking Penalties. 
 

7. PARKING VIOLATION: A Parking Violation is any violation of the parking 
and traffic rules and regulations of the City of Portsmouth. 

 
 

C. NOTICE 
 

Any vehicle included in the Immobilization and Tow Record shall receive Notice 
of immobilization or towing for nonpayment of Parking Penalties. Notice shall be 
either posted on the vehicle or sent by first class mail at the address listed in 
state motor vehicle records. The Notice shall include the following: 
 
At any time subsequent to the accumulation of unpaid parking fines in 
excess of two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00) on any or all vehicles at the time 
registered to the owner of any vehicle on the records  maintained by the 
Parking Clerk, the Parking Clerk may send Notice by certified mail to the 
registered owner of said vehicle or vehicles at the address on the 
registration. 
 
1. A statement that describes that the Owner has accumulated unpaid Parking 

Penalties for Parking Violations on the vehicle or other vehicles registered 
in the Owner’s name and failure to resolve all unpaid Parking Penalties 
within seven (7) calendar days from the date of the Notice will result in 
immobilization or towing and storage of the vehicle pending such resolution; 

 
2. A reference to the website where the Owner may review records used to 

comprise the Immobilization and Tow Record;  
 



 

 

3. A reference to the website where the Owner may make payment of unpaid 
Parking Penalties prior to immobilization or towing of the vehicle;  

 

4. Contact information for the Parking Clerk’s Office; and 
 
5. A statement that the Owner may contact the Parking Clerk’s Office to 

arrange a review or hearing to review the information used to comprise the 
Immobilization and Tow Record before the expiration of the Notice period. 

 

a. The date, time, and location of the violations leading to the 
issuance of the notice; 

 
b. A statement to the clear effect that failure to resolve the 

violations prior to a certain specified date not less than within 
five (5) days subsequent to the date of the notice, will lead to 
towing or immobilization of the vehicle pending such 
resolution; 

 
c. A statement that the recipient of the notice may contact the 

Parking Clerk to arrange a hearing on the subject of the 
violations.  

 
 
D. REVIEW OR HEARING REQUEST 

 
 At the request of any recipient of a notice pursuant to this section,  the 
Parking Clerk shall arrange a hearing at the Clerk's office. Such hearing shall 
be scheduled during normal business hours of City Hall. The Parking Clerk 
shall conduct and preside over all hearings scheduled under this section. 
The hearings shall be informal and the rules of evidence shall not apply. At 
such hearings the owner of the motor vehicle which is the subject of the 
hearing may present any defense of law or fact which is relevant to the issue 
of whether or not the subject vehicle should be placed on the list of vehicles 
subject to towing or immobilization.  
Prior to immobilization or towing and storage of a vehicle listed on the 
Immobilization and Tow Record, the Owner may request a review or hearing 
regarding the information used to comprise the Immobilization and Tow Record by 
contacting the Parking Clerk’s office. Owner may request  an online or in person  
meeting with a Parking Clerk during posted office hours. If, after any review or 
hearing, the Parking Clerk confirms the information on the Immobilization and Tow 
Record, and if payment for the outstanding Parking Penalties is not received prior 
to the Notice period expiring, the vehicle will be immobilized or towed. The decision 
of the Parking Clerk shall be final, subject only to judicial review. 

 
TOW OR IMMOBILIZATION LIST : The Parking Clerk shall maintain a list of 
vehicles which are subject to being towed and held in storage or immobilized 
by a mechanical device pending final resolution of unpaid parking violations. 
Contained on this list shall be all motor vehicles for which the notice 
specified in Article 4 above was provided. Motor Vehicles shall not be placed 
on the said list in the event that the Parking Clerk, after hearing, orders 
otherwise, or in the event that the fine is paid in full for all of the violations 



 

 

contained in the notice mailed.  
 
E. TOWING/STORAGE OR IMMOBILIZATION OR TOWING/STORAGE 

 
Upon the determination  that any vehicle which is listed on the Immobilization and 
Tow Record is Tow and Immobilization List pursuant to Article 6 above 
parked on any public way or in any municipal lot, and payment of unpaid Parking 
Violations has not been received by the Parking Clerk prior to the expiration of the 
Notice period, parked on any public way or in any municipal parking lot, the 
car the vehicle may be immobilized or may be towed and stored. 

 
F. RELEASE OF TOWED OR IMMOBILIZED OR TOWED VEHICLES; REMOVAL 

FROM LIST IMMOBILIZATION AND TOW RECORD: Motor  
 

Vehicles may be removed from the Tow or Immobilization List Immobilization 
and Tow Record, released from storage after towing or may have Immobilization 
Devices removed in the following manner: 

 

1.     By order of the Parking Clerk after review or hearing; 

 
2. By payment in full of all Parking Penalties attributed to or arising out of the 

Parking Violations referenced in the Immobilization and Tow Record; 
contained in the Notice issued pursuant to Article 4 Section C above; 

 
3. By posting a cash bond with the Parking Clerk’s Office in any amount 

sufficient to make payment in full of all Parking fines Penalties arising out of 
the Parking Violations contained in the Immobilization and Tow Record 
issued pursuant to Article 4 Section C above to allow a judicial 
determination of the violations pursuant to State law; 

 

4. By a judicial determination resolving the said Parking Violations in 
accordance with State law and the payment of any Parking Penalties arising 
out of such determination; or 

 
5. Payment of all fees and charges incurred by the City for the immobilization, 

towing and storage of the vehicle.  
  

G.        UNAUTHORIZED REMOVAL OF IMMOBILIZATION DEVICE 
 

Any person removing an immobilization device without authority shall be 
guilty of a violation punishable by a fine of not more than $500 $1,000. 

 
 
The City Clerk shall properly alphabetize and/or re-number the ordinances as necessary 
in accordance with this amendment. 
 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent herewith are hereby deleted. 
 
 This ordinance shall take effect upon its passage. 
 



 

 

 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       __________________________ 
       Deaglan McEachern, Mayor 
 
 
ADOPTED BY COUNCIL: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Kelli L. Barnaby, City Clerk 
 
 

  

 



LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR 
ULTIMATE PARKING II, LLC 

D/B/A LAZ PARKING 
 

The City of Portsmouth (hereinafter "City") a municipal Corporation with a 

principal place of business of 1Junkins Avenue, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, 

for good and valuable consideration as set forth herein, hereby grants this 

Revocable License to Ultimate Parking II, LLC d/b/a LAZ Parking, Three Copley 

Place Suite 3202, Boston, MA 02116 (hereinafter Licensee) pursuant to the following 

terms and conditions: 

1. Area of License: The City authorizes the Licensee to use the 3 
designated spaces as depicted in Exhibit 1 for Valet Parking services on 
Portwalk Place a private street (hereinafter "Licensed Area"). The 
Licensed Area is the property of Parade Residence Hotel LLC  
("the Owner ") and is associated with the Marriott Residence Inn and the 
Portsmouth Harbor Events & Conference Center. 
 

2. Use: Licensee may make use of the Licensed Area for the purpose of 
providing valet parking services. Such activities are subject to the 
following conditions: 

 
• The hours of operation for valet parking services are 24 hours per 

day, seven days per week. 
• Licensee may not store parked vehicles on metered spaces on 

Portwalk Place, in municipal spaces (metered, garage, or 
otherwise) other than in municipal spaces that the City may 
designate and identify in writing, which shall be incorporated and 
made part of this Agreement.  Licensee may not stack cars on 
Portwalk Place. 

• This Licensee will represent clearly and consistently that it is a 
private company and that the municipality is not responsible for any 
damage or loss to vehicles or property. 

• This License is exclusive and is for the benefit of the Owner of the 
Licensed Area. 

 
3. Signage: 

 
• For the parking spaces designated in the Licensed Area, the 

owner is responsible for installing poles with signs that relay the 
use as described in paragraph 2. The City will determine the 



placement of sign poles and will have final approval over the size 
and content of signs. 

• This License agreement also authorizes Licensee's use of one A-
frame sign to identify those spaces identified by the City in this 
Agreement. Licensee shall coordinate the precise location of this 
signage with representatives of the City to ensure that pedestrian 
access and safety is maintained. Licensee will remove the sign if 
the Valet Service is not in operation. 

 
4. Term:  This License shall commence upon execution of this Agreement 

and continue for one (1) year.  The License may be renewed upon the 
approval of the City's Parking and Traffic Safety Committee and the City 
Council and payment of the annual fee. 
 

5. Payment Terms:  Licensee has tendered and the City has accepted 
$1,500.00 as the annual permit fee for the Valet Parking Spaces in the 
Licensed Area. 

 
6. Indemnification:  Licensee agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 

City of Portsmouth for any and all property damage, bodily injury, or 
personal injury which arises as a result of its use of the Licensed Area. 
This obligation survives termination or revocation of this Agreement. 

 
7. Insurance:   At all times during the use and exercise of this License, 

Licensee agrees to maintain commercial general liability insurance 
covering its operation under this License in an amount not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence. In addition, Licensee maintains direct primary 
garage keepers / Bailee insurance in an amount of not less than $300,000 
per occurrence. Such insurance shall name the City of Portsmouth as an 
Additional Insured. Certificates indicating the existence of this insurance 
shall be maintained on file at all times during the License period with the 
Parking and Transportation Division of the City of Portsmouth Public 
Works Department. 

 
8. Maintenance of Area: Licensee will maintain the Licensed Area in a 

neat and orderly fashion during Licensee's hours of use. The Licensee 
shall take such measures as may be necessary to maintain pedestrian 
and vehicle safety during the use of the Licensed Area for its valet 
service. 

 
9. Damage: Licensee agrees to take reasonable steps to remedy promptly 

any damage to the Licensed Area caused by the Licensee's activities. The 
Owners may elect to accept reasonable reimbursement from the Licensee 
in lieu of remedy. 

 
 



10. Compliance with Other Laws:  This Agreement does not relieve 
Licensee from compliance with any other local, state, or federal laws or 
regulations or conditions imposed by any local board. Failure to abide by 
any local, state, or federal laws or regulations may, at the City's discretion, 
result in revocation. 

 
11. Revocation:  The City or the owner may terminate this Agreement or any 

provision contained in this Agreement on 72 hours written notice if the 
public interest or the Owner's private interest requires such termination, in 
which case the City shall return all fees paid by Licensee on a pro-rata 
basis. This Agreement may be revoked or suspended immediately without 
notice by the City or the Owner for cause, e.g. violation of the terms of this 
License in which case, all fees paid by the Licensee shall remain the 
property of the City. 

 
 
       CITY OF PORTSMOUTH 
 
Dated:       By:       
            Karen Conard, City Manager 
 
 
       Pursuant to vote of the City Council on 
       _______________________. 
 
 
 

ULTIMATE PARKING II, LLC  
d/b/a LAZ Parking 
 

Dated:       By:       
       Print Name:      
       Print Title:      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
h\rps\agr\valet agrs\portwalk/2023-24/marriott/conference 



1 

 

LICENSE AGREEMENT FOR  
ULTIMATE PARKING II, LLC 

D/B/A LAZ PARKING 
 

The City of Portsmouth (hereinafter "City") a municipal Corporation with a 

principal place of business of 1 Junkins Avenue, Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801, 

for good and valuable consideration as set forth herein, hereby grants this Revocable 

License to Ultimate Parking II, LLC d/b/a LAZ Parking, Three Copley Place Suite 3202, 

Boston, MA 02116 (hereinafter Licensee) pursuant to the following terms and 

conditions: 

1. Area of License:  The City authorizes the Licensee to use the 3 
designated spaces as depicted in Exhibit 2 for Valet Parking services on 
Portwalk Place a private street (hereinafter "Licensed Area"). The 
Licensed Area is the property of Portwalk HI LLC ("the Owner ") and is 
associated with the Hampton Inn & Suites. 
 

2. Use:  Licensee may make use of the Licensed Area for the purpose of 
providing valet parking services. Such activities are subject to the 
following conditions: 

 
• The hours of operation for valet parking services are 24 hours per 

day, seven days per week. 
• Licensee may not store parked vehicles on metered spaces on 

Portwalk Place, in municipal spaces (metered, garage, or 
otherwise) other than in municipal spaces that the City may 
designate and identify in writing, which shall be inc o rp o ra t ed  
and made part of this Agreement.  Licensee may not stack cars 
on Portwalk Place. 

• This Licensee will represent clearly and consistently that it is 
a private company and that the municipality is not 
responsible for any damage or loss to vehicles or property. 

• This License is exclusive and is for the benefit of the Owner of 
the Licensed Area. 

 
3. Signage:   

 
• For the parking spaces designated in the Licensed Area, the 

owner is responsible for installing poles with signs that relay 
the use as described in paragraph 2.  The City will determine 



2 

 

the placement of sign poles and will have final approval over 
the size and content of signs.   

• This License Agreement also authorizes Licensee’s use of 
one A-frame sign to identify those spaces identified by the 
City in this Agreement.  Licensee shall coordinate the precise 
location of this signage with representatives of the City to 
ensure that pedestrian access and safety is maintained.  
Licensee will remove the sign if the Valet Service is not in 
operation. 

 
4. Term: This License shall commence upon execution of this Agreement 

and continue for one (1) year.  The License may be renewed upon the 
approval of the City's Parking and Traffic Safety Committee and the City 
Council and payment of the annual fee. 

 
5. Payment Terms: Licensee has tendered and the City has accepted 

$1,500.00 as the annual permit fee for the Valet Parking Spaces in the 
Licensed Area. 

 
6. Indemnification: Licensee agrees to Indemnify and hold harmless the 

City of Portsmouth for any and all property damage, bodily injury, or 
personal injury which arises as a result of its use of the Licensed Area. 
This obligation survives termination or revocation of this Agreement. 

 
7. Insurance:  At all times during the use and exercise of this License, 

Licensee agrees to maintain commercial general liability insurance 
covering its operation under this License in an amount not less than 
$1,000,000 per occurrence. In addition, Licensee maintains direct primary 
garage keepers / Bailee insurance in an amount of not less than $300,000 
per occurrence. Such insurance shall name the City of Portsmouth as an 
Additional Insured. Certificates indicating the existence of this insurance 
shall be maintained on file at all times during the License period with the 
Parking and Transportation Division of the City of Portsmouth Public 
Works Department. 

 
8. Maintenance of Area:  Licensee will maintain the Licensed Area in a 

neat and orderly fashion during Licensee's hours of use. The Licensee 
shall take such measures as may be necessary to maintain pedestrian 
and vehicle safety during the use of the Licensed Area for its valet service. 

 
9. Damage:  Licensee agrees to take reasonable steps to remedy promptly 

any damage to the Licensed Area caused by the Licensee's activities. The 
Owners may elect to accept reasonable reimbursement from the Licensee 
in lieu of remedy. 

 
 



3 

 

 
10. Compliance with Other Laws:  This Agreement does not relieve 

Licensee from compliance with any other local, state, or federal laws or 
regulations or conditions imposed by any local board. Failure to abide by 
any local, state, or federal laws or regulations may, at the City's discretion, 
result in revocation. 

 
11. Revocation:  The City or the owner may terminate this Agreement or any 

provision contained in this Agreement on 72 hours written notice if the 
public interest or the Owner's private interest requires such termination, in 
which case the City shall return all fees paid by Licensee on a pro-rata 
basis. This Agreement may be revoked or suspended immediately without 
notice by the City or the Owner for cause, e.g. violation of the terms of this 
License in which case, all fees paid by the Licensee shall remain the 
property of the City. 

 
       CITY OF PORTSMOUTH 
 
Dated:       By:       
            Karen Conard, City Manager 
 
 
       Pursuant to vote of the City Council on 
       _______________________________. 
 
 
 

ULTIMATE PARKING II, LLC  
d/b/a LAZ Parking 
 

Dated:       By:       
       Print Name:      
       Print Title:      
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
h\rps\agr\valet agrs\portwalk/2023-24/hampton 



Gift and Donation Submission Form 
Donations received by the City of Portsmouth must be accepted by the City Council. Please 
complete this form and submit it to the City Manager for inclusion on an upcoming agenda. 

 

Date: 

Department/ 
Contact Person:   

      Donation Amount:   
 

Are Funds to be directed to a particular department, program or fund? – If yes, please 
provide detail below: 

  

 

 

       Is there a particular purpose intended with this donation: 

 Improvements to North Cemetery 
 

 

 Other Information/Special Conditions: 

Historic Cemetery Committee Co-Chair Susan Sterry secured a donation 
from EightKPH LLC, the co-owner and developer of 163 Deer Street, for 
purposes of supporting the Committee’s efforts to improve North 
Cemetery.  Specifically, in consultation with the Department of Works, 
these funds could be by the Department of Public Works to remove the 
wooden fence that is in disrepair along a portion of the property and 
recondition the landscaping in that area. 

 

Donor Information 
First & Last Name:  

Business Name: 

Address*: 

Phone*: 

      Email*: 

 

Please note that gifts/donations to individual employees with a value of $100 or more are not 
permitted. Information with an asterisk (*) indicates it will not be publicly distributed. 

September 12, 2024 
 Suzanne Woodland, Deputy City Manager 
Susan Sterry, Historic Cemetery Com. Co-Chair 

$2,500.00 

Yes.  Fund 13 Miscellaneous Grants 

  

EightKPH LLC 

233 Vaughn Street Unit 301, Portsmouth NH 

NA 

617-901-7993 







Gift and Donation Submission Form 

Donations received by the City of Portsmouth must be accepted by the City Council. Please 

complete this form and submit it to the City Manager for inclusion on an upcoming agenda. 

 

Date: 

Department/ 

Contact Person:   

      Donation Amount:   

 

Are Funds to be directed to a particular department, program or fund? – If yes, please 

provide detail below: 

  

 

 

       Is there a particular purpose intended with this donation: 

  

Tina Miles wanted to give back to the Honor Guard following their 

involvement in her late husband’s funeral services. She learned they are 

funded primarily through donations and wanted to ensure they have 

enough funds available to them to provide the same support she received to 

others during a time in need. 

 

 
 

 Other Information/Special Conditions: 

 

The Police Department has a standing operating policy relative to the 

receipt of donations. Donations are reviewed initially by the Chief and are 

then considered by the Police Commission during public session. The Police 

Commission voted to accept this donation at the September 17th, 2024 

meeting. 

 
 

Donor Information 

First & Last Name:  

Business Name: 

Address*: 

9/18/24 

Chief Mark Newport/Asst. Jackie Burnett 

$3,200 

Portsmouth Police Department’s Honor Guard 

Tina Miles  

 

Portsmouth, NH 03801 



Gift and Donation Submission Form 

Phone*: 

      Email*: 

 

Please note that gifts/donations to individual employees with a value of $100 or more are not 

permitted. Information with an asterisk (*) indicates it will not be publicly distributed. 

Unknown 

Unknown 



1 

CITY OF PORTSMOUTH 
    City Hall, 1 Junkins Avenue 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire 03801 

 smwoodland@cityofportsmouth.com 

(603) 610-7240

   Suzanne M. Woodland 
 Deputy City Manager / Regulatory Counsel 

Date: September 18, 2024 

To: Karen S. Conard, City Manager 

From: Suzanne M. Woodland, Deputy City Manager / Regulatory Counsel 

Re: Report Back on PPMtv Request for Additional Funding and Policy Change 

This memorandum serves as a report back to the City Council regarding PPMtv’s request 
for additional funding and a policy change. The report back was requested in follow up to 
PPMtv’s presentation at the September 3, 2024 City Council meeting and includes 
references to a September 17, 2024 communication from PPMtv to the City Council 
(included under Written Communications), which requests an additional $48,000 in 
funding for this fiscal year and a change in the City Council policy to allocate 60% of 
franchise fee revenues received annually by the City from Comcast to PPMtv. 

Staff recommends that if the City Council is inclined to support PPMtv’s request for 
additional funding for FY25, the City Council may direct the City Manager to provide 
$48,000 to PPMtv from the next quarterly franchise fee payment from Comcast.  With this 
and no other change to the existing policy relating to the treatment of franchise fees, there 
will be no impact to the taxpayer or tax rate for FY25.  This will resolve the immediate 
need for PPMtv for the current fiscal year. It essentially makes available to them next 
month the portion of franchise fees that would have been provided to them next year 
according to current policy. So, this is tomorrow’s funding made available today while they 
work to identify alternative revenue opportunities. 

If there is a desire on the part of the City Council to consider a further change to the 
existing policy relating to the use of the franchise fees, that change could be considered in 
early 2025 as part of the City’s annual budget process.  This would allow time for the City 
Council and the public to evaluate the impact of the revaluation and assess the City’s 
budget priorities in the normal process. 

Additional information is provided below as background and context. 

Background 



 

2 
 

 
Pursuant to the City’s television franchise agreement with Comcast, Comcast is obligated 
to distribute programming for up to two public education and government (PEG) channels 
(with a third channel optional upon certain conditions). One channel, Channel 22, 
managed by City staff, broadcasts the City’s government meetings and programming. This 
channel has been in operation for over 20 years and is exclusively used for government 
business and events. A second channel, which went live in 2010, is operated by PPMtv, a 
non-profit organization, which produces and broadcasts non-governmental programming. 
 
In 2006, the Cable Commission conducted a resident survey which suggested local 
support for one or more additional PEG channels. In follow up to the survey results, the 
Cable Commission made efforts to identify a legal framework, an initial board of directors, 
and sufficient funding to get started. Among the points of consensus between the Cable 
Commission and the City Council, was that the new public access channel should be 
managed by a separate legal entity to preserve the artistic integrity and independence of 
the shows produced. 
 
Over the course of the next three years, the City Council supported the development of a second 
PEG channel for the purpose of creating and distributing original non-governmental programming 
through several mechanisms. First, it agreed to negotiate and include in the television franchise 
agreement with Comcast the ability to broadcast on a second channel if there was sufficient 
original programming to warrant it. Second, the City Council established the Cable Television 
Public Access Charitable Trust (“Trust”) to allow for the accumulation of funds to help support the 
new channel. A copy of the Trust is attached. Third, the City Council agreed to a policy that 
would direct a portion of the franchise fees collected from Comcast annually to the Trust. 
 
The policy, first adopted by the City Council at its August 3, 2009 meeting, directed that all 
franchise fees received above the baseline of $360,000 annually be directed to the Trust. At the 
time, the intention was that the operation of a second channel would have no impact to the 
taxpayer or tax rate.  Last fiscal year (FY2024), the City received $445,164 in franchise fees. The 
City recorded the first $360,000 in the General Fund and the remainder was recorded to the 
Trust for the benefit of PPMtv operations.  
 
The City has been seeing a slow decline in franchise fee revenues since FY2018 as more and 
more residents move to streaming services. The rate of decline over the last seven years is 
approximately 2.5%, but last year saw a more significant decline. There is no opportunity to 
increase the amount of franchise fees collected; the City already receives 5% of the gross annual 
revenues generated from Portsmouth television subscribers which is the maximum percentage 
the City can receive under the law. 
 
PPMtv annually submits its budget to the City’s Public Access Financial Advisory Committee and 
makes a request for release of some portion of the Trust funds to support its operations.  
Attached is a spreadsheet showing the receipt of franchise fees by fiscal year, the amount 
transferred to the Trust, and the amount expended from the Trust to support PPMtv operations. 
 
Since PPMtv’s inception in FY2010, the City has received a total of $7,127,135 from 
Comcast which has supported the City’s General Fund in the amount of $5,400,000 (76%) 
and placed $1,727,135 (24%) into the Trust. Of that amount, $1,726,855 (virtually 100%) 
has been distributed directly to PPMtv.  This equates to an average of $115,124 per year 



 

3 
 

to PPMtv.    
  

Costs to support Channel 22 total $224,453 for FY2025, with costs incorporated into the 
City’s General Fund budget across multiple departments. 
 
The City estimates that the franchise fees for FY25 will be approximately $407,000.   
 
PEG Channels in Other Communities 
 
There is no legal requirement to maintain a PEG channel.  For those communities that 
have one or more PEG channels, communities vary in the way they organize and manage 
their PEG channels; some communities manage all of their PEG channels under the 
municipal umbrella while others maintain separate legal entities such as Portsmouth.  
 
Communities vary in how and to what extent they fund public access. There is no legal 
requirement to use the franchise fee for PEG channels only. To the contrary, it is assumed 
that there is a municipal cost to managing the franchise agreement and the public rights-
of-ways in which the television infrastructure sits regardless of the operation of PEG 
stations. 
  
PPMtv previously provided information on PEG channels and funding levels for the cities 
of Nashua, Londonderry and Concord among others. The City Manager’s office identified 
the following additional information from New Hampshire communities: 
 

Lee - After assessing viewership and other factors, the town shut down their 
community channel and focused on streaming meetings, e-blasts, and other media 
options. 

 
Lebanon - The city stopped supporting PEG channels several years ago, taking the 
$145,000 in franchise fee revenue and transitioning to a Teams platform with 
livestreaming of meetings.  The city provides zero dollars to cable TV channels 
now. 

 
Keene - The City runs their government channel (as Portsmouth does) and 
contracts out for the public channel.  Keene is experiencing the same as 
Portsmouth – diminishing revenues.  When their current contract is up in a year or 
two, they will have to re-evaluate. 
 
Swanzey - A few years ago, the town separated the franchise fee revenue from the 
public access TV expenses.  The town now pays the public access TV station in 
Keene to film its meetings.    

 
Bedford - The town operates 3 channels – Government, Education, and Public  
Access (actually 4, with the 4th being HD that simulcasts programming from the 
other channels, just in HD), plus the town’s low power FM radio station.  All 
channels, radio, and programming are paid for with the cable franchise fee (5%).  
The town is working on sponsorships (likely being called underwriting) for the 3 
sports seasons to generate additional revenue.    

 



 

4 
 

Derry - The town operates 3 channels: Government, Education and Public Access.  
They too are experiencing a reduction in cable revenues and have built a 10-year 
projection with declining revenues throughout that period to help figure out their 
service capacity moving forward.  Their cable director has direct oversight, 
management and production of the Government and Public Access channels.  The 
Town has been allocating approximately $50K to the School District to support the 
Educational Channel which is now under review considering the declining revenue 
situation and that School Board meetings are now held in the Town Council 
meeting room and staffed by the Cable Division. 

 
 Durham – The town has only has one channel. 

 
 Miscellaneous 
 
The City has previously encouraged PPMtv and WSCA to consider carefully opportunities 
to collaborate, share space, and to otherwise look for partnership opportunities given each 
entity’s fiscal constraints. Conversations among the two organizations took place during 
PPMtv’s evaluation of its space needs as it looked for an alternative location to the South 
Meeting House. The City has had separate conversations with PPMtv over the last several 
years regarding the declining franchise funding and the need to explore alternative funding 
sources. 
 
On and off over the years, City staff and members of the Cable and Broadband Internet 
Commission have reached out to explore opportunities for greater collaboration and 
possible synergies between the schools and PPMtv, but no ongoing substantive program 
has ever been established.  Early on, studio space at the High School was explored but 
did not come to fruition.  



City of Portsmouth
Comcast Franchise Fee

Cable Franchise Fee History During FY 10 During FY 11 During FY 12 During FY 13 During FY 14 During FY 15 During FY 16 During FY 17 During FY 18 During FY 19 During FY 20 During FY 21 During FY 22 During FY 23 During FY 24
for     FY 11 for     FY 12 for     FY 13 for     FY 14 for     FY 15 for     FY 16 for     FY 17 for     FY 18 for     FY 19 for     FY 20 for     FY 21 for     FY 22 for     FY 23 for     FY 24 for     FY 25

Received FY 22 Received FY 23 Received FY 24
119,184.79       121,229.92       113,924.32       
121,902.37       122,316.98       111,725.29       
121,807.53       120,393.05       110,737.74       
121,346.10       114,075.10       108,776.73       

Total Cable Franchise Fee 403,555              425,399              439,770              461,166              468,551                494,683            516,751            533,407            512,949            486,627            495,754            481,103            484,240.79       478,015.05       445,164.08       
 % change from previous year 5.4% 3.4% 4.9% 1.6% 5.6% 4.5% 3.2% -3.8% -5.1% 1.9% -3.0% 0.7% -1.3% -6.9%

Amount that stays in the City's General Fund 360,000              360,000              360,000              360,000              360,000                360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            360,000            

Cable Television Public Access Charitable Trust receives 43,555                65,399                79,770                101,166              108,551                134,683            156,751            173,407            152,949            126,627            135,754            121,103            124,241            118,015            85,164              
   change from previous Year 50% 22% 27% 7.30% 24.07% 16.39% 10.63% -11.80% -17.21% 7.21% -10.79% 2.59% -5.01% -27.84%

5% from 
previous year

5% from 
previous year

5% plus $35,000 
to upgrade to 

HD

50% of Budget 
plus $15,000 

donation match
Voted to send all 
above $360,000

Voted to send 
$125,000

Voted to send 
$127,468

Voted to send 
$135,000

Voted to send 
$175,500

Voted to send 
$87,000

Distributed to PPMtv 43,555                65,399                79,770                101,166              108,500                113,925            119,621            160,602            157,721            126,627            125,000            127,468            135,000            175,500            87,000              
   Change from previous Year 50% 22% 27% 7% 5% 5% 34% -2% -20% -1% 1.97% 5.91% 30% -50%

Difference between Trust Received and Trust Distributed -                      -                      -                      -                      51                         20,758              37,130              12,805              (4,772)               (0)                      10,754              (6,365)               (10,759)             (57,485)             (1,836)               

*Trust Balance -                      -                      -                      -                      51                         20,809              57,939              70,744              65,972              65,972              76,726              70,361              59,601              2,116                281                   
* Note the Trust balance fluctuates depending on investment of the Trust Funds.

Total Cable Franchise Fee Total Years
15

Highest FY17 $533,407 FY10-FY24
FY24 $445,164

Reduction since 2017 ($88,243) -16.5%
Average per year

Total Cable Franchise Fee 7,127,135         100% 475,142            

Amount that stays in the City's General Fund 5,400,000         76% 360,000            

Cable Television Public Access Charitable Trust receives 1,727,135         24% 115,142            

% of Trust Received Funds
Distributed to PPMtv 1,726,855         100% 115,124            

281                   0%










	City Council Agenda - September 23, 2024
	VII. Acceptance of Minutes - August 5, 2024
	X. Public Hearings and Vote on Ordinances and/or Resolutions 
	A. First Reading - Ordinance Amending Chapter 10, Article 6 - Gateway Neighborhood Overlay District 

	Public Hearings/Second Reading of Ordinance
	B. Public Hearing and Second Reading - Ordinance Amending Chapter 1, Article IV, Section 1.412 - Public Art Review Committee 

	City Manager's Comments
	2. Referral of Draft Right-to-Know Policy to Fee Schedule Study Committee 
	3. Sale of Surplus Police Vehicles
	4. Acceptance of Several Easements for Properties Located at 53 Green Street

	XII. Consent Agenda
	A. Request for installation of Projecting Signs at 1 Market Square - Overland Sheepskin Company
	B. Letter from Seacoast Paddleboard Club requesting permission to hold 6th Annual Paddleboard Event 
	C. Letter from Pro Portsmouth Inc. requesting permission to hold multiple events
	D. Letter from Scarecrows of the Port requesting permission to install Scarecrows October 8 - November 2

	XIII. Presentations and Written Communications
	B. Email Correspondence 
	C. Letter requesting reduction or waiver of fees for construction at 2 Congress Street - North Church 
	D. PPMtv Proposal for Additional Funding and Change in Policy 

	XIV. Mayor McEachern
	Reappointment of Mark Syracusa to PTS Committee 
	Reappointment of Mary Lou McElwain to PTS Committee
	Reappointment of Erica Wygonik to PTS Committee
	Reappointment of Robert Marchewka to EDC 
	Appointment of Brian Gibb to Conservation Commission from an Alternate to a Regular Member 
	Resignation of Adam Fitzpatrick from the Conservation Commission

	Assistant Mayor Kelley
	Legislative Subcommittee Update - NHMA 2025-2026 Proposed Legislative Principles and Policies

	Councilor Cook
	Public Art Review Committee Ordinance Amendment

	Councilor Bagley
	1. PTS Committee Action Sheet and Minutes of September 5, 2024
	2. Request for First Reading - Amendment to Chapter 7 Regarding Towing or Immobilization of Motor Vehicles for non-payment of parking fines 
	3. Renewal of Annual Valet Parking Licensing Agreement - Parade Residence Hotel LLC
	4. Renewal of Annual Valet Parking License Agreement - Portwalk HI LLC

	XVI. Approval of Grants/Donations
	A. Historic Cemetery Donation 
	B. Fire Department Donation 
	D. Police Department Honor Guard Donation

	XVII. City Manager's Informational Items
	3. Report back on PPMtv Request for Additional Funding and Policy Change





